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December 17, 2020 

Via EDIS 
 
The Honorable Lisa R. Barton 
Secretary 
U.S. International Trade Commission 
500 E Street, S.W., Room 112-A 
Washington, DC 20436 
 

 

 

Re: In the Matter of Certain UMTS and LTE Cellular Communication 
Modules and Products Containing the Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-____ 

Dear Secretary Barton: 

Enclosed for filing on behalf of Koninklijke Philips N.V. (formerly known as Koninklijke 
Philips Electronics N.V.) and Philips RS North America LLC (formerly known as Respironics, Inc.) 
(collectively, “Philips” or “Complainants”) are the following documents in support of Complainants’ 
request that the Commission commence an investigation pursuant to the provisions of Section 337 of 
the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337.  Please note that Confidential Exhibits 24C-
31C to the Complaint contain Confidential Business Information and pursuant to the Commission’s 
Rules of Practice and Procedure, a request for confidential treatment of the information in those 
exhibits accompanies this filing.   

Complainants are also mindful of the following notice published by the ITC in view of the 
Covid-19 pandemic:  Temporary Change to Filing Procedures, 85 Fed. Reg. 15798 (Mar. 19, 2020), 
which requires that complaints and their accompanying documents be filed electronically via EDIS, 
as well as guidance received from the ITC Docket entitled “Additional Guidance for Complaint 
Filing During COVID-19.”   

Accordingly, Complainants submit the following: 

1. The Request for Confidential Treatment pursuant to 19 C.F.R. §§ 20l.6(b) and 
210.5(d) requesting confidential treatment of information appearing in 
Confidential Exhibits 24C-31C to the Verified Complaint;   

2. The Initial Statement on the Public Interest; 

3. The Verified Complaint; 
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4. One (1) certified1 copy of the asserted United States Patent No. 7,944,935 (the 
“’935 Patent”), identified as Exhibit 1 in the Complaint; 

5. One (1) certified copy of the asserted United States Patent No. 7,554,943 (the 
“’943 Patent”), identified as Exhibit 2 in the Complaint; 

6. One (1) certified copy of the asserted United States Patent No. 8,199,711 (the 
“’711 Patent”), identified as Exhibit 3 in the Complaint; 

7. One (1) certified copy of the asserted United States Patent No. 7,831,271 (the 
“’271 Patent”), identified as Exhibit 4 in the Complaint; 

8. One (1) certified copy of the assignment records for the ’935, ’943, ’711, and 
’217 patent, identified respectively as Exhibits 20-23 in the Complaint (19 
C.F.R. §§ 210.12(a)(9)(2)); 

9. One (1) certified copy of the prosecution histories for the ’935, ’943, ’711, and 
’217 patent, identified as Appendices A-D in the Complaint (19 C.F.R. 
§ 210.12(c)(l)); 

10. One copy of examiner-cited references identified in the prosecution histories of 
the asserted patents, identified as Appendices E-H in the Complaint (19 C.F.R. 
§§ 210.12(c)(2)); and 

These documents are being submitted in three separate EDIS transactions, as follows: 

Filing 1: Public Documents 

 This cover letter; 

 the Request for Confidential Treatment; 

 the Initial Statement on the Public Interest; 

 the Verified Complaint; 

                                                 
1 Please note that, at the time of filing, Complainants had not yet received the certified copies 

of the patents (Exhibits 1-4), the patent assignments (Exhibits 20-24), or the file histories 
(Appendices A-D).  We will submit the certified copies once we receive them from the PTO. 



 

The Honorable Lisa R. Barton 
December 17, 2020 
Page 3 

 

4827-2072-6996.1 

 Public Exhibits 1-13, 15-18, 19-28, and 32 and public versions of 
Confidential Exhibits 24C-31C and to the Complaint. 

Filing 2: Confidential Documents 

 This cover letter; 

 the Request for Confidential Treatment; 

 the Initial Statement on the Public Interest; 

 Confidential Exhibits 24C-31C to the Complaint. 

Filing 3: Appendices to the Complaint 

 This cover letter; 

 Appendix Reference page; 

 Appendices A-H 

Thank you for your attention to this matter.  Please contact me if you have any questions. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
David A. Hickerson 
 
Counsel for Complainants 
Koninklijke Philips N.V. and Philips RS North 
America LLC (f/k/a Respironics, Inc.) 

 
 
Encl. 
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December 17, 2020 

Via EDIS 
The Honorable Lisa R. Barton, Secretary 
U.S. International Trade Commission 
500 E Street, S.W., Room 112 
Washington, D.C. 20436 
 
 

Re: In the Matter of Certain UMTS and LTE Cellular Communication Modules 
and Products Containing the Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-____ 

Dear Secretary Barton: 

Pursuant to Commission Rule 201.6, Complainants Koninklijke Philips N.V. (formerly known 
as Koninklijke Philips Electronics N.V.) and Philips RS North America LLC (formerly known as 
Respironics, Inc.) (collectively, “Philips” or “Complainants”) respectfully request confidential 
treatment of certain confidential business information contained in confidential exhibits 24C, 25C, 
26C, 27C, 28C, 29C, 30C, and 31C to the Verified Complaint. 

The information in the exhibits for which Philips seeks confidential treatment consists of a 
confidential list of licensees (Exhibit 28C), confidential domestic industry charts (Exhibits 24C, 25C, 
26C, and 27C), and confidential declarations describing the nature and significance of the investments 
made by Philips in the domestic industry (Exhibits 29C, 30C, and 31C).  This information qualifies as 
confidential business information under Commission Rule 201.6 because substantially identical 
information is not available to the public; because the disclosure of this information would cause 
substantial competitive harm to Complainants; and because the disclosure of this information would 
likely impede the Commission’s efforts and ability to obtain similar information in the future. 

Thank you for your attention.  Please contact me with any questions regarding this request for 
confidential treatment. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
David A. Hickerson 

Counsel for Complainants 
Koninklijke Philips N.V. and Philips RS North 
America LLC (f/k/a Respironics, Inc.) 



 

  

UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 

 
 

 
In the Matter of 
 
CERTAIN UMTS AND LTE CELLULAR 
COMMUNICATION MODULES AND 
PRODUCTS CONTAINING THE SAME 
 
 

Investigation No. 337-TA-__________ 

 
PUBLIC INTEREST STATEMENT 

Complainants Koninklijke Philips N.V. and Philips RS North America LLC (f/k/a 

Respironics, Inc.) (collectively, “Philips”) submit this Public Interest Statement in compliance 

with 19 C.F.R. § 210.8(b). Philips seeks exclusion of certain UMTS1 and LTE2 cellular 

communication modules and products containing the same that infringe U.S. Patent Nos. 

7,831,271 (“’271 Patent”), 8,199,711 (“’711 Patent”), 7,554,943 (“’943 Patent”), and 7,944,935 

(“’935 Patent”) (collectively “Asserted Patents”).  Philips also seeks cease-and-desist orders 

against the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion), Telit, and Quectel Respondent Groups (collectively, 

“Respondents”)3 halting the importation, sale, offer for sale, using, marketing, and/or advertising 

of the Accused Products as set forth in the Complaint.  See Complaint at paragraphs 49-53. 

As discussed more fully below, Philips respectfully submits that the issuance of the relief 

requested in the concurrently-filed Complaint, including the limited exclusion of the Accused 

Products of the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion), Telit, and Quectel Respondent Groups, a general 

                                                 
1 “UMTS” refers to Universal Mobile Telecommunication Services which is third-generation (3G) 
cellular communication. 

2 “LTE” refers to Long-Term Evolution which is fourth-generation (4G) cellular communication. 

3 The respondent groups are defined in the Complaint at paragraph 2. 
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exclusion order, and a permanent cease and desist order covering the Accused Devices will not 

adversely impact the public health, safety, or welfare conditions in the United States, competitive 

conditions in the United States economy, the production of like or directly competitive articles in 

the United States, or United States consumers.  

Philips submits that this is not a case where the Commission, the parties, and the public 

should be required to undertake the time and expense of discovery into any potential public 

interest issues, the presentation of evidence on such issues before the ALJ, and the issuance of a 

Recommended Determination by the ALJ on the public interest question. For these reasons, 

Philips submits that the Commission should not delegate the public interest issue to the ALJ. 

I. Use of Articles Potentially Subject to Remedial Orders in the United States 

The Respondents’ products potentially subject to remedial orders in the proposed 

investigation are UMTS and LTE cellular communication modules of Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion), 4 Telit5 and Quectel, 6 and Internet of Things (IoT) devices that incorporate 

such cellular communication modules.  As described in the Complaint, the Accused Products are 

used in the transfer of data between IoT devices over a cellular communications network. 

II. There Are No Public Health, Safety, or Welfare Concerns in the United States 
Relating to the Potential Remedial Orders 

                                                 
4 “Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion)” includes respondents: (i) Thales DIS AIS USA, LLC (f/k/a 
Gemalto IOT LLC f/k/a Cinterion Wireless Modules NAFTA LLC) (“Thales DIS USA”), 
(ii) Thales DIS AIS Deutschland GmbH (f/k/a Gemalto M2M GmbH) (“Thales DIS 
Deutschland”), (iii) Thales USA, Inc. (“Thales USA”), and (iv) Thales S.A. (Thales Group) 
(“Thales S.A.”). 

5 “Telit” includes respondents: (i) Telit Wireless Solutions, Inc. (“Telit Wireless”), and (ii) Telit 
Communications PLC (“Telit Communications”). 

6 “Quectel” here refers to respondent Quectel Wireless Solutions Co., Ltd. 
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Excluding Respondents’ infringing devices from importation into the United States would 

not implicate any public health, safety, or welfare concerns.  Cf. In the Matter of Certain Mobile 

Elec. Devices and Radio Frequency and Processing Components Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-

1093, Comm’n Op. at 11 (Apr. 16, 2019) (describing various electronic devices as not “the types 

of products that affect public health and welfare”).  Cellular communication modules are 

available from Philips’ licensees and other manufacturers.  Also, products containing such 

cellular communication modules are available from Philips and other manufacturers, which can 

use such available cellular communication modules in such products.  There are no safety-related 

features unique to Respondents’ infringing products. Moreover, Philips’ licensees and other 

producers could fulfill the market demand for cellular communication modules, and Philips and 

other producers could fulfill the market demand for products containing the modules. 

III. Articles Which Could Replace the Subject Articles If the Commission Excluded Them 
From The United States 
 
Cellular communication modules are available from multiple sources, who make like and 

directly competitive articles that would replace the Accused Products were they excluded from 

the U.S.  Respondents are a handful of the many suppliers of cellular communication modules in 

the U.S. market and products containing the same, and Respondents’ cellular communication 

modules and devices containing the modules do not contain any unique health- or safety-related 

features.  No public interest concerns exist when the market contains an adequate supply of 

competitive or substitute products for those subject to a remedial order.  See Certain Lens-Fitted 

Film Packages, Inv. No. 337-TA-406, Comm’n Op. at 39-40 (June 28, 1999).  

The cellular communication module market is competitive, and numerous companies 

exist with the capacity to replace Respondents’ volume of production of infringing products for 

the U.S. market without delay. 
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IV. The Domestic UMTS and LTE Cellular Communications Modules Market Can Be 
Satisfied By Existing Products 
 

Philips is a major vendor of certain products containing cellular communication modules, as 

described in the Complaint, and Philips could supply the market with such products.  Philips’ 

licensees and other non-Respondents are major vendors of both cellular communication modules 

and products containing the modules, and they could supply the market with cellular 

communications modules, which could then similarly be incorporated into any products 

containing such modules.  UMTS and LTE cellular communication modules and products 

containing the same that do not incorporate Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion), Telit and Quectel 

modules are excluded from the scope of this investigation and the requested remedial orders.  

There is no reason to hold an evidentiary hearing to establish that the exclusion of Respondents’ 

cellular communications modules and products containing the same would not result in any 

adverse impact to this already well-supplied market. 

V. The Requested Remedial Orders Will Not Have a Negative Impact on Consumers in 
the United States 
 

Respondents manufacture cellular communication modules and products containing such 

modules.  Such cellular communication modules – such as manufactured by Thales, Telit and 

Quectel – are sold to companies – such as CalAmp, Xirgo and Laird – that make Accused 

Products that are sold to and used  by companies and individuals who use the Accused Products 

to monitor and provide data on items such as cargo, vehicles and other assets, as well as on 

individuals such as to monitor health, for example.  These manufacturers of products containing 

cellular communication devices can easily select other sources for their cellular communication 

modules, and end users can also easily select other sources for products containing such 

modules.  Thus, the issuance of the requested exclusion and cease and desist orders for the 
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remaining life of the patents will have no meaningful adverse impact on U.S. consumers.  

Moreover, the public interest favors the protection of intellectual property rights in the U.S.  See 

Certain Display Controllers and Products Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-491/481, Comm’n 

Op. at 66 (Feb. 4, 2005).  The issuance of the requested relief here—excluding infringing 

products—would serve the public interest by protecting Philips’ intellectual property rights.  

Precluding Respondents from importing and selling their infringing Accused Products will 

benefit the public interest by protecting innovators, such as Philips, who invest domestically to 

research, develop, and patent new cellular communication module technology.  Declining to 

issue remedial orders would effectively subsidize and encourage Respondents’ unfair 

competition by allowing them to benefit from years of research, development, and technological 

innovation on the part of Philips without payment.  Permitting unlicensed suppliers like 

Respondents to import and sell infringing cellular communication modules in the United States 

would also undermine future investment in wearable monitoring technology. See id. 

VI. Conclusion 
 

Issuing a limited exclusion of the Accused Products, a general exclusion order, and a 

permanent cease and desist order against Respondents’ infringing products will not negatively 

affect the public health, safety, or welfare in the U.S., competitive conditions in the U.S. 

economy, the production of like or competitive articles in the U.S., or the availability of such 

products to consumers.  Availability of the accused cellular communication modules and 

products containing the same is not essential to public health and safety because, among other 

reasons, they do not contain any unique health- or safety-related features.  There are no public 

interest concerns that would necessitate discovery, presentation of evidence, and a 

Recommended Determination on the public interest by the ALJ. 
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Dated:  December 17, 2020 Respectfully submitted, 
 

  
      

 Eley O. Thompson 
Richard Spencer Montei 
FOLEY & LARDNER LLP 
321 N. Clark Street 
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FOLEY & LARDNER LLP 
3000 K Street, N.W. 
Suite 600 
Washington, D.C. 20007-5109 
Phone:  (202) 672-5467 
 

 Kevin M. Littman 
Lucas I. Silva  
FOLEY & LARDNER LLP 
111 Huntington Avenue 
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Boston, MA 02199-7610 
Phone: (617) 342-4000 
 

 Counsel for Complainants 
Koninklijke Philips N.V. and Philips RS North 
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I. INTRODUCTION 

1. Koninklijke Philips N.V. (formerly known as Koninklijke Philips Electronics 

N.V.) (“KPNV”) and Philips RS North America LLC (f/k/a Respironics, Inc.) 

(collectively, “Philips”) respectfully request that the United States International 

Trade Commission institute an investigation pursuant to Section 337 of the Tariff 

Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337 (“Section 337”), to remedy the 

unlawful importation, sale for importation, sale after importation, and/or use after 

importation of certain UMTS1 and LTE2 cellular communication modules and 

products containing the same.3  These products in the U.S. Internet of Things 

“IoT” market infringe Philips’ patent rights under United States Patent Nos. 

7,831,271 (“’271 Patent”), 8,199,711 (“’711 Patent”), 7,554,943 (“’943 Patent”), 

and 7,944,935 (“’935 Patent”) (collectively “Asserted Patents”)4, as follows:   

Patent Asserted Claims Respondents 

’935 1*, 2-4, 9*, 10, 11, 12 
and 17 

All 

’943 12* and 15* All 

’711 9* and 12* All 

‘271 1*, 2-4, 5*, 6-8 All 

* denotes an independent claim 
 

2. The proposed respondents and respondent groups are as follows. 

                                                 
1 “UMTS” refers to Universal Mobile Telecommunication Services which is third-generation 
(3G) cellular communication. 
2 “LTE” refers to Long-Term Evolution which is fourth-generation (4G) cellular communication. 
3 Allegations herein are with knowledge with respect to Complainants’ own acts and on 
information and belief as to other matters. 
4 Copies of the Asserted Patents accompany this Complaint as Exhibits 1-4.  Complainants will 
replace these with certified copies of the Asserted Patents once they are received. 
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(a) Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group: (i) Thales DIS AIS USA, LLC 

(f/k/a Gemalto IOT LLC f/k/a Cinterion Wireless Modules NAFTA LLC) 

(“Thales DIS USA”), (ii) Thales DIS AIS Deutschland GmbH (f/k/a 

Gemalto M2M GmbH) (“Thales DIS Deutschland”), (iii) Thales USA, 

Inc. (“Thales USA”), (iv) Thales S.A. (Thales Group) (“Thales S.A.”) 

(collectively, “Thales”) as module makers and their customers integrating 

Thales modules into IoT products including at least (v) CalAmp Corp. 

(“CalAmp”), (vi) Xirgo Technologies, LLC (“Xirgo”), (vii) Laird 

Connectivity, Inc. (“Laird”), and others to be identified in discovery; 

(b) Telit Respondent Group: (i) Telit Wireless Solutions, Inc. (“Telit Wireless”), 

(ii) Telit Communications PLC (“Telit Communications”) (collectively 

“Telit”) as module makers and their customers integrating Telit modules 

into IoT products including at least (iii) CalAmp, and others to be 

identified through discovery; 

(c) Quectel Respondent Group: (i) Quectel Wireless Solutions Co., Ltd. 

(“Quectel”) as a module maker and its customers integrating Quectel 

modules into IoT products including (ii) CalAmp, (iii) Xirgo, (iv) Laird, 

and others to be identified through discovery.    

3. Thales, Telit and Quectel are responsible for the design, development, 

distribution, sale, and importation into the United States of module products 

accused of infringing the Asserted Patents.  Respondents CalAmp, Xirgo, Laird, 

and others to be identified through discovery, are entities that are customers of the 

module makers and are responsible for the manufacture and importation into the 
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United States, sale for importation into the United States, and/or sale after 

importation into the United States of IoT products incorporating the Thales, Telit 

and Quectel modules that are accused of infringing the Asserted Patents. 

4. Philips asks the Commission to investigate the unlawful and unfair acts of Thales, 

Telit and Quectel as module makers of Accused Products and their customers, 

CalAmp, Xirgo, Laird, and others to be identified in discovery.  Philips asserts 

that the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group infringe at least the following claims of 

the Asserted Patents:  claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 17 of the ’935 patent, 

claims 12 and 15 of the ’943 patent, claims 9 and 12 of the ’711 patent, and 

claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of the ’271 patent (collectively, “the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Asserted Claims”).  Philips asserts that the Quectel Accused 

Products and Quectel Respondent Group infringe at least the following claims of 

the Asserted Patents:  claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 17 of the ’935 patent, 

claims 12 and 15 of the ’943 patent, claims 9 and 12 of the ’711 patent, and 

claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of the ’271 patent (collectively, “the Quectel 

Asserted Claims”).  Philips asserts that the Telit Accused Products and Telit 

Respondent Group infringe at least the following claims of the Asserted Patents:  

claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 17 of the ’935 patent, claims 12 and 15 of the 

’943 patent, claims 9 and 12 of the ’711 patent, and claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 

of the ’271 patent (collectively, “the Telit Asserted Claims”).  A chart showing 

each Patent, Asserted Claims and Respondents is provided above in Paragraph 1.  

All Asserted Claims are asserted against all Respondents. 
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5. Philips requests a permanent limited exclusion order, pursuant to Section 337(d), 

excluding from entry into the United States all of Thales (Gemalto/Citerion) 

Accused Products that infringe the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Asserted Claims 

of the Asserted Patents.  Philips also seeks a permanent cease and desist order, 

pursuant to Section 337(f), directing the proposed respondents to cease and desist 

from activities that include, but are not limited to, importing, marketing, 

advertising, demonstrating, qualifying for use in the products of others, 

warehousing inventory for distribution, offering for sale, selling, distributing, or 

using Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products or products containing 

Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products that infringe the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Asserted Claims of the Asserted Patents.  Further, Philips 

requests that the Commission impose a bond during the 60-day Presidential 

review period pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1337(e)(1) and (f)(1). 

6. Philips also requests a permanent limited exclusion order, pursuant to Section 

337(d), excluding from entry into the United States all of Telit’s Accused 

Products that infringe the Telit Asserted Claims of the Asserted Patents.  Philips 

also seeks a permanent cease and desist order, pursuant to Section 337(f), 

directing the proposed respondents to cease and desist from activities that include, 

but are not limited to, importing, marketing, advertising, demonstrating, 

qualifying for use in the products of others, warehousing inventory for 

distribution, offering for sale, selling, distributing, or using Telit Accused 

Products or products containing Telit Accused Products that infringe the Telit 

Asserted Claims of the Asserted Patents.  Further, Philips requests that the 
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Commission impose a bond during the 60-day Presidential review period pursuant 

to 19 U.S.C. § 1337(e)(1) and (f)(1). 

7. Philips also requests a permanent limited exclusion order, pursuant to Section 

337(d), excluding from entry into the United States all of Quectel’s Accused 

Products that infringe the Quectel Asserted Claims of the Asserted Patents.  

Philips also seeks a permanent cease and desist order, pursuant to Section 337(f), 

directing the proposed respondents to cease and desist from activities that include, 

but are not limited to, importing, marketing, advertising, demonstrating, 

qualifying for use in the products of others, warehousing inventory for 

distribution, offering for sale, selling, distributing, or using Quectel Accused 

Products or products containing Quectel Accused Products that infringe the 

Quectel Asserted Claims of the Asserted Patents.  Further, Philips requests that 

the Commission impose a bond during the 60-day Presidential review period 

pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1337(f)(1) and (j)(1). 

8. Philips also requests a permanent general exclusion order, pursuant to Section 

337(d), excluding from entry into the United States cellular communication 

modules and IoT cellular communication devices directed to any Accused Product 

of the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group, the Telit Respondent 

Group, or the Quectel Respondent Group. 

II. BACKGROUND 
 

9. Since its founding in 1891, Philips has dedicated significant resources to research 

and development for the advancement of technology used around the world 

through its business units including those described below.  Philips strives to 
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make the world heathier and more sustainable through innovation with the goal of 

improving the lives of billions of people.  Philips approaches healthcare as a 

continuum where its technologies can be applied across activities of healthy 

living, prevention, diagnosis, treatment and home care as depicted in this graphic:   

 

10. Connected health technologies developed by Philips are employed across the 

health continuum.  With uses inside and outside hospitals, Philips has developed 

technologies that empower consumers to better manage their health by improving 

access to and analysis of personal health information obtained in various manners.   

11. Philips is also a world-recognized innovator of digital cellular communication 

technology facilitating the interconnection of devices through communication 

networks and with the internet or world-wide web. Philips has engaged in 

research and development in the mobile communications area since the 1980s, 

including work on 3G cellular communications and Universal Mobile 

Telecommunications Service (“UMTS”) starting in the 1990s and work on 4G 

cellular communications and Long-Term Evolution (“LTE”) starting in the 2000s. 

12. Philips as a company is organized through various subsidiaries into four 

segments. These are:  (1) Philips Diagnosis and Treatment; (2) Philips Connected 
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Care and Health Informatics; (3) Philips Personal Health; and (4) an “other” 

segment that includes central administration and certain miscellaneous operations.  

See https://www.philips.com/a-

w/about/news/archive/standard/news/press/2019/20190110-philips-realigns-the-

composition-of-its-reporting-segments.html.  These four segments are further 

broken down into several separate entrepreneurial business units.  The domestic 

business unit that is relevant to this investigation is Philips’ Sleep (“Philips 

Sleep”), which is part of Philips RS North America LLC (f/k/a Respironics, Inc.), 

a wholly owned subsidiary of KPNV.  Philips Sleep has made significant 

domestic investments in plant and equipment, and research and development 

directed to products practicing one or more claims of each of the Asserted Patents.  

13. Philips Sleep falls within the Sleep and Respiratory Care business of the Philips 

Connected Care Segment.  See https://www.usa.philips.com/c-e/smartsleep.html.  

Philips Sleep developed the hardware and software behind the Continuous 

Positive Airway Pressure (“CPAP”) Devices described herein, including products 

that have been or are being developed and sold by Philips Sleep in the United 

States supporting United States domestic industry. 

14. Through this Philips Sleep business unit, Philips researches and develops sleep 

therapy devices with monitoring technology, develops and sells products that 

allow individuals to monitor and improve their health, and transfers or licenses its 

technologies and/or the patents that protect its technologies to customers who use 

the technologies in their products.  As a result of these efforts, Philips has become 

a world leader in health monitoring technology and innovation, including sleep 
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therapy devices such as its CPAP devices, and a major contributor to the United 

States economy and jobs.   

15. For example, Philips Sleep produces products that have been or are being 

developed and sold in the United States, including sleep therapy devices such as 

CPAP devices, which are used by patients with sleep apnea and which collect 

various information that can be transmitted, for example, to clinicians and the 

user’s own devices to monitor the patient’s progress and manage patient 

compliance and therapy. The connected care system utilizing the CPAP devices 

(e.g., DreamStation, DreamStation2, SystemOne, DreamStation Go (DsGo), etc.) 

integrates UMTS and LTE Cellular Communication Modules to communicate 

through the cellular network to clinical products such as Care Orchestrator 

(predecessor EncoreAnywhere) and patient products such as DreamMapper.  

https://philipsproductcontent.blob.core.windows.net/assets/20200424/adf8ec9a99

3041e8a097aba700e2c68e.pdf.  Philips enables the care of more than 9.7 million 

people through cloud-based patient monitoring systems. 

16. The Philips Sleep business unit expands Philips’ capabilities in personal health 

management and supports Philips’ longstanding commitment to deliver integrated 

solutions across the health continuum.     

17. A domestic industry exists under Section 337(a)(2) and (a)(3) relating to Philips 

Sleep’s DreamStation, DreamStation2, SystemOne, DreamStation Go (DsGo) 

protected by the Asserted Patents, including related products, based on Philips 

Sleep’s large investments made in plant and equipment, employment of labor and 
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capital, domestic manufacturing, assembly, testing, engineering, and research and 

development, among other activities. 

18. A domestic industry is also in the process of being established under Section 

337(a)(2) and (a)(3) relating to Philips Sleep’s DreamStation2 and DreamStation 

Go products protected by the Asserted Patents. Philips Sleep has taken concrete 

steps in the form of significant investments in plant and equipment, labor and 

capital, testing, engineering and research and development to establish a domestic 

industry in the DreamStation2 and DreamStation Go products, which are expected 

to be commercially released during 2021, and therefore there is a significant 

likelihood that this industry will be established in the near future. 

19. The unauthorized use of patented inventions by Thales, Telit and Quectel, and 

their respective customers such as CalAmp, Xirgo, Laird, and others is pervasive.  

The Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products are being manufactured, 

imported, sold for importation, and/or sold after importation by the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group including at least Thales and its 

customers including at least, CalAmp, Xirgo, Laird and others to be identified 

through discovery.  The Telit Accused Products are being manufactured, 

imported, sold for importation, and/or sold after importation by the Telit 

Respondent Group including at least Telit and its customers including at least 

CalAmp and others to be identified through discovery.  The Quectel Accused 

Products are being manufactured, imported, sold for importation, and/or sold after 

importation by the Quectel Respondent Group including at least Quectel and its 

customers including at least CalAmp, Xirgo, Laird and others to be identified 
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through discovery.  The full extent of the infringement and sales to other 

customers, including which customers are involved, is not possible to ascertain 

without discovery which will occur in this investigation.  The unlawful and unfair 

acts of the Respondents and other customers will continue until prevented by the 

Commission. 

III. COMPLAINANTS 

20. Complainant KPNV is a corporation duly organized and existing under the laws 

of The Netherlands with its principal place of business at High Tech Campus 52, 

5656 AG Eindhoven, The Netherlands.   

21. Complainant KPNV includes the Philips Sleep business unit which is part of 

Philips RS North America LLC., a wholly owned subsidiary of KPNV that is 

incorporated in the state of Delaware.  Philips RS North America LLC is also a 

Complainant. 

IV. PROPOSED RESPONDENTS 

A. The Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondents 

22. Respondent Thales DIS USA is an entity organized under the laws of the State of 

Delaware and has a regular and established place of business at 310 120th Avenue 

NE, Unit A/100, Bellevue, Washington, 98005. 

23. Respondent Thales DIS AIS Deutschland is a German entity headquartered at 

Werinherstraße. 81, München, Bayern, 81541, Germany. 

24. Respondent Thales S.A. is a French entity headquartered at Tour Carpe Diem 

Esplanade Nord, 31 Place des Corolles - CS 20001, Courbevoie, 92098 Paris La 

Defense Cedex, Paris, France. 
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25. Respondent Thales USA is an entity organized under the laws of the State of 

Delaware and has a regular and established place of business at 2733 Crystal 

Drive Suite 120, Arlington, Virginia, 22202. 

26. Respondents Thales DIS USA, Thales DIS AIS Deutschland, Thales S.A. and 

Thales USA are related corporate entities and act and have acted individually and 

in concert as a single enterprise and as agents for the purpose of the making, 

using, offering for sale, selling, importing into the United States, and selling after 

importation into the United States the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused 

Products.  The Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondents also act and have acted 

individually in concert as a single enterprise and as agents for the purpose of 

developing and maintaining computer networks, systems, IoT devices, and 

applications that enable the operation of the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused 

Products in an infringing manner within the United States. 

27. Thales offers an array of UMTS and LTE cellular communication modules for 

integration into related IoT devices.  Philips has identified exemplary Thales 

products that evidence Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) widespread infringements of 

the Asserted Patents.  See Exs. 15-18.   

28. Gemalto is a company that was founded in 2006.  Having begun as a security 

company, beginning in 2010, Gemalto began offering LTE/4G cellular 

communication modules for integration into related IoT devices acquiring 

Cinterion the same year. See 

https://web.archive.org/web/20180315182126/https://www.gemalto.com/compan

yinfo.  When entering this market, Gemalto took advantage of Philips’ patented 
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technology to develop its products.  In April 2019, Thales S.A. acquired Gemalto, 

with Gemalto forming one of Thales S.A.’s seven global divisions, with the 

division being named “Digital Identity and Security” (“DIS”).  As such, many of 

Thales’ current products infringe the Philips patents identified herein.   

29. Thales designs, develops, manufactures, imports into the United States, sells for 

importation into the United States, sells after importation into the United States, 

and/or uses after importation into the United States, the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products.  Thales has not obtained a license or 

otherwise acquired rights from Philips for use of the Asserted Patents. 

30. Thales imports Accused Products into the United States, distributes the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products throughout the United States, and 

maintains systems and IoT devices for use and operation of the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products. 

B. The Telit Respondents 

31. Respondent Telit Wireless is an entity organized under the laws of the State of 

Delaware and has a regular and established place of business at 5425 Page Road 

Suite 120, Durham, North Carolina, 27703-7009.   

32. Respondent Telit Communications is the parent of Telit Wireless (collectively 

“Telit”) and a UK entity headquartered at 78 Cannon Street, Cannon Place, 

London, EC4N 6AF, United Kingdom.    

33. Respondents Telit Wireless and Telit Communications are related corporate 

entities and act and have acted individually and in concert as a single enterprise 

and as agents for the purpose of the making, using, offering for sale, selling, 

importing into the United States, and selling after importation into the United 
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States the Telit Accused Products.  The Telit Respondents also act and have acted 

individually and in concert as a single enterprise and as agents for the purpose of 

developing and maintaining computer networks, systems, IoT devices, and 

applications that enable the operation of the Telit Accused Products in an 

infringing manner within the United States. 

34. Telit offers an array of UMTS and LTE cellular communication modules for 

integration into IoT devices.  Philips has identified exemplary Telit products that 

evidence Telit’s widespread infringements of the Asserted Patents.  See Exs. 10-

13.   

35. Telit was established in 1986 and offered its first cellular communication module 

in 1998.  In 2013, Telit began offering to small to medium sized enterprises in the 

United States.  https://www.telit.com/about/company-information/telit-history/.  

When entering the U.S. market, Telit took advantage of Philips’ patented 

technology to develop its products.  As such, many of Telit’s current products 

infringe the Philips patents identified herein.   

36. Telit designs, develops, manufactures, imports into the United States, sells for 

importation into the United States, sells after importation into the United States, 

and/or uses after importation into the United States, the Telit Accused Products.  

Telit has not obtained a license or otherwise acquired rights from Philips for use 

of the Asserted Patents. 

37. Telit imports Accused Products into the United States, distributes the Telit 

Accused Products throughout the United States, and maintains systems and IoT 

devices for use and operation of the Telit Accused Products. 
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C. Quectel 

38. Quectel is a corporation with its corporate headquarters in China, located at 

Building 5, Shanghai Business Park Phase III (Area B), No. 1016 Tianlin Road, 

Minhang District, Shanghai 200233, China.     

39. Quectel offers an array of UMTS and LTE cellular communication modules.  

Philips has identified exemplary Quectel products that evidence Quectel’s 

widespread infringements of the Asserted Patents.  See Exs. 5-8.   

40. Quectel was founded in 2010 in Shanghai, China offering GSM/GPRS modules.  

Since then, Quectel has expanded its line of products to include UMTS and LTE 

cellular communication modules for sale into the United States IoT market.  

Quectel opened its first office in North America in 2014 and in Los Angeles in 

2016.  https://www.quectel.com/company/history.htm.  When entering the U.S. 

market, Quectel took advantage of Philips’ patented technology in the design and 

operation of its products.  As such, many of Quectel’s current products infringe 

the Philips patents identified herein.   

41. Quectel develops, manufactures, imports into the United States, sells for 

importation into the United States, sells after importation into the United States, 

and/or uses after importation into the United States, the Quectel Accused 

Products.  Quectel has not obtained a license or otherwise acquired rights from 

Philips for use of the Asserted Patents.   

42. Quectel distributes the Quectel Accused Products throughout the United States 

and maintain systems and IoT devices for use and operation of the Quectel 

Accused Products.    
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D. CalAmp  

43. CalAmp is a Delaware corporation with its corporate headquarters located in 

Irvine, California.   

44. CalAmp imports into the United States, sells for importation into the United 

States, sells after importation into the United States, and/or uses after importation 

into the United States, at least Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products, 

Telit Accused Products and Quectel Accused Products including as incorporated 

into CalAmp IoT devices.  See Exs. 5-8, 10-13 and 15-18.  CalAmp has not 

obtained a license or otherwise acquired rights from Philips for use of the 

Asserted Patents.   

E. Xirgo  

45. Xirgo is a Delaware corporation with its corporate headquarters located in 

Camarillo, California.   

46. Xirgo imports into the United States, sells for importation into the United States, 

sells after importation into the United States, and/or uses after importation into the 

United States, at least Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and Quectel 

Accused Products, etc. including as incorporated into Xirgo IoT devices.  See Exs. 

5-8 and 15-18.  Xirgo has not obtained a license or otherwise acquired rights from 

Philips for use of the Asserted Patents.    

F. Laird  

47. Laird Connectivity is a Delaware corporation with its corporate headquarters 

located in Akron, Ohio.   

48. Laird imports into the United States, sells for importation into the United States, 

sells after importation into the United States, and/or uses after importation into the 
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United States, at least Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and Quectel 

Accused Products, etc. including as incorporated into Laird IoT devices. See Exs. 

5-8 and 15-18.  Laird has not obtained a license or otherwise acquired rights from 

Philips for use of the Asserted Patents. 

V. THE ACCUSED PRODUCTS-AT-ISSUE 

49. Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210.12(a)(12), the category of the Accused Products may 

be plainly described as: UMTS and LTE cellular communication modules of 

Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion), Telit and Quectel, and Internet of Things (IoT) 

devices that incorporate such cellular communication modules.  Section VI, infra, 

details specific instances of the unlawful importation, sale and/or use after 

importation of the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products, the Telit 

Accused Products and the Quectel Accused Products.   

50. Exemplary Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products include, but are not 

limited to, cellular communication modules models EH5-US, EHS6, ELS61-US, 

PLS62-W, ELS31-V, CL31, ELS31, ELS61, ELS81, EMS31, ENS22, EXS62-W, 

EXS82-W, mPLAS9, mPLS62, mPLS8, PLAS9, PLPS9, PLS62, PLS8, TX62 

and the like, and IoT products incorporating the cellular communication modules 

including Thales’ customer CalAmp model HMU-3640LA, Laird model Sentrius 

IG60, and Xirgo model XT6372R, and the like (“Thales (Gelmalto/Cinterion) 

Devices”).  

51. Exemplary Telit Accused Products include, but are not limited to, cellular 

communication modules models xE910, LE910-NA V2, LE910B1-NA, 

LE910B1-SA, LE910B4-NA, LE910C1/C4-NF, LE910C1-LA, LE910C1-NA, 

LE910C1-NS, LE910C1-SA, LE910C1-ST, LE910C1-SV, LE910-NA1, LE910-
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NAG, LE910-NVG, LE910-SV V2, LE910-SV1, LE910-SVG, LE910-SVL, 

LE910C4-NF, ME910C1-N1, ME910C1-NA, ME910C1-NV, ME910C1-WW, 

ME910G1-W1, ME910G1-WW, NE910C1-NA, LE920A4-NA, LE920-NA, 

LE920-NAG, LE940A9, LE940B6, LM940, LM960A18, LM960A9-P, LN930, 

LN931-NAG, LN932, LN940A9, LN940A11, LN960A16, ME310G1-W1, 

ME310G1-WW, ME866A1-NA, ME866A1-NV, ML865C1-NA, ML865G1-

WW, NE310H2-W1, NL865B1, NL865H2-W1, FN980, FN980m, LE866A1-NA, 

LE866-SV1 and the like, and IoT products incorporating such cellular 

communication modules such as Telit’s customers CalAmp model LMU-

3640LAB, and the like (“Telit Devices”). 

52. Exemplary Quectel Accused Products include, but are not limited to, cellular 

communication modules models EG25-G, EG91, EG91-xx, BG96, AG15, AG35, 

AG520R, AG550Q, BC65, BC66, BC66-NA, BC68, BC92, BC95-G, BG600L-

M3, BG77, BG95, EC20, EC21, EC25, EG06, EG12, EG18, EG21-G, EG95, 

EM05, EM06, EM12-G, EP06, RG500Q, RM500Q-GL, SC20, SC200R, SC600T, 

SC600Y, SC66 and the like, and IoT products incorporating such cellular 

communication modules such as Quectel’s customers Xirgo model XT6264, Laird 

model Sentrius RG1xx, and CalAmp models LMU-3640MB, LMU-2x30, LMU-

3540LAB, LMU-3640LVB, LMU-3641MB, and the like (“Quectel Devices”). 

53. This identification of exemplary models and types of products is intended for 

illustration and is not intended to limit the scope of the investigation.  Additional 

models, types of products and customers of Thales, Telit and Quectel will be 

identified through discovery and added as appropriate to this investigation.  Any 
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remedy should extend to all present and future infringing Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion), Telit and Quectel products regardless of model name or 

number or type of product.   

VI. THE PATENTS-AT-ISSUE 

1. U.S. Patent No. 7,944,935 

54. The ’935 patent entitled “Method for Priority Based Queuing and Assembling of 

Packets” was duly and legally issued on May 17, 2011, naming inventors Paul 

Bucknell, Matthew P.J. Baker and Timothy J. Moulsley.  The ’935 patent issued 

from United States Patent Application No. 11/718,720, filed on May 7, 2007, 

which claims priority to GB 0424918.1 filed on November 11, 2004.  See Ex. 1; 

Appx. A.  With a patent term adjustment of 520 days, the ’935 patent indicates on 

its face that it expires no earlier than April 8, 2027. 

55. KPNV is the sole owner by assignment of all right, title, and interest in the ’935 

patent.  Copies of the recorded assignment documents related to the ’935 patent 

accompany this Complaint as Exhibit 20, and certified copies will be provided 

once received.   

56. The following foreign patents and published patent applications share common 

priority claims to the ’935 Patent and GB 0424918.1: AR AR080753; MY MY-

140449-A; TW I393387; EP 1815647 validated in Germany, France, Spain, UK, 

Italy, Poland, Turkey; AU 2005303398; BR PI0517561-5 (Application); CA 

2586837; CN 200580038551.6; ID P0031622; IN274169 ; JP 5090175; KR 10-

1169594; MX 272257; PH 1-2007-501173; RU 2390956; UA 92475; VN 1-2007-

01135 (Application); ZA 2007/5050.   
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57. In non-technical terms, the ’935 patent discloses and claims an improved methods 

and devices to enable flexible and efficient multiplexing of data packets.  The 

inventions include a method including receiving of data packets having different 

priorities, operating a queue for each different priority of data packet, assembling 

a group of the data packets wherein a first portion of the group is populated with 

data packets selected from one or more of the queues according to a first rule and 

a second portion of the group is populated with data packets selected from one or 

more of the queues according to a second rule, and transmitting the group, 

wherein the size of the first and second portions is adapted according to the delay 

experienced by data in each queue relative to a delay criterion for the respective 

queue.  The claimed inventions are improvements over previously existing 

technology because in the preexisting technology, in UMTS, there is an Enhanced 

Uplink Data Channel (E-DCH) at the Medium Access Control (MAC) layer data 

packets, referred to as MAC-d Protocol Data Units or MAC-d PDUs, that are 

grouped together for transmission to form larger, enhanced PDUs termed MAC-e 

PDUs. When there is a continuous supply of MAC-d PDUs having the highest 

priority, the MAC-e PDUs can be filled with these high priority MAC-d PDUs, 

but when there are fewer high priority MAC-d PDUs to be transmitted, any spare 

capacity in the MAC-e PDUs can be used to transmit waiting MAC-d PDUs 

having a lower priority.  If there are continuous high-priority MAC-d PDUs 

arriving for transmission, then the transmission of simultaneously-arriving lower-

priority can be delayed.  Priority-based multiplexing MAC-d PDUs into the 

MAC-e PDUs will not always lead to the optimal filling of the MAC-e PDUs and 
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will be too inflexible.  The inventions provide various solutions alleviating or 

eliminating these problems.  

58. As required by Rule 210.12(c), Appendix A to this Complaint includes a copy of 

the prosecution history of the ’935 patent, and after filing, Complainants will 

provide a certified copy of the prosecution history of the ’935 patent as soon as it 

is received.  Appendix E to this Complaint includes copies of each technical 

reference cited in the prosecution history of the ’935 patent. 

2. U.S. Patent No. 7,554,943 

59. The ’943 patent entitled “Radio Communication System” was duly and legally 

issued on June 30, 2009, naming inventors Timothy James Moulsley and Matthew 

Peter John Baker.  The ’943 patent issued from United States Patent Application 

No. 10/503,429, filed on August 3, 2004, which claims priority to GB 02032639 

and GB 02029916 filed on February 12 and 8, 2002.  See Ex. 2; Appx. B.  With a 

patent term adjustment of 682 days, the ’943 patent indicates on its face that it 

expires no earlier than December 9, 2024. 

60. KPNV is the sole owner by assignment of all right, title, and interest in the ’943 

patent.  Copies of the recorded assignment documents related to the ’943 patent 

accompany this Complaint as Exhibit 21, and certified copies will be provided 

once received.   

61. The following foreign patents and published patent applications share common 

priority claims to the ’943 Patent, GB 02032639 and GB 02029916: EP 1479258 

validated in Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Switzerland, Czech Republic, Germany, 

Denmark, Estonia, Spain, Finland, France, UK, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, 
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The Netherlands, Portugal, Sweden, Turkey; CN 03803551.0; JP 03803551.0; KR 

10-0959801.   

62. In non-technical terms, the ’943 patent recognized various problems in radio 

communications systems which include a data channel for transmission of data 

packets from the primary station to a secondary station, in which a plurality of 

downlink control channels are used to signal information relating to packet 

transmission.  Problems with the operational scheme include that with a fixed 

control channel allocation system throughput (T) for a given offered load (O) can 

be significantly reduced in a worst case scenario (for example two secondary 

stations using the same control channel).  One suggested solution was to utilize an 

indicator signal to inform a secondary station of the control channel it should 

receive, but such potential solution was not viable because it added unacceptable 

operational delay and complexity to the system.  The claimed inventions solved 

such technical problems, not requiring an indicator signal, for example.  In one 

aspect of the claimed inventions, there is a secondary station; a data channel for 

the transmission of data packets from a primary station to the secondary station 

and a plurality of control channels for signaling of control information relating to 

the data packets from the primary station to the secondary station; a way of 

determining which of the control channels is allocated to the secondary station, 

the allocated control channel being changed according to a defined sequence 

known to both the primary station and the secondary station, and for monitoring 

the currently allocated control channel to determine information about packet 
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transmissions; and the defined sequence is configured to reduce probability of an 

allocation collision to 1/N, where N is a total number of the control channels.   

63. As required by Rule 210.12(c), Appendix B to this Complaint includes a copy of 

the prosecution history of the ’943 patent, and after filing, Complainants will 

provide a certified copy of the prosecution history of the ’943 patent as soon as it 

is received.  Appendix F to this Complaint includes copies of each technical 

reference cited in the prosecution history of the ’935 patent. 

3. U.S. Patent No. 8,199,711 

64. The ’711 patent entitled “Radio Communication System” was duly and legally 

issued on June 12, 2012, naming inventors Timothy James Moulsley and Matthew 

Peter John Baker.  The ’711 patent issued from United States Patent Application 

No. 12/472,049, filed on May 27, 2009, and is a continuation of Application No. 

10/503,429, filed on August 3, 2004, now the ’943 patent.  See Ex. 3; Appx. C.   

With patent term adjustment of 75 days, the ’711 patent indicates on its face that 

it expires no earlier than April 12, 2023. 

65. KPNV is the sole owner by assignment of all right, title, and interest in the ’711 

patent.  Copies of the recorded assignment documents related to the ’711 patent 

accompany this Complaint as Exhibit 22, and certified copies will be provided 

once received.   

66. The following foreign patents and published patent applications share common 

priority claims to the ’711 patent: AT 1479258; BE 1479258; BG 1479258; CH 

1479258; CA 1479258; DE 60340274.7; DK 1479258; EE 1479258; ES 1479258; 

FI 1479258; FR 1479258; GB 1479258; GR 1479258; HU 1479258; IE 1479258; 
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IT 1479258; NL 1479258; PT 1479258; SE 1479258; TR 1479258; CN 

03803551.0; JP 03803551.0; KR 10-0959801.   

67. In non-technical terms, the ’711 patent recognized similar problems in radio 

communications mentioned above in discussing the ’943 patent.  The claimed 

inventions solved various technical problems without requiring an indicator 

signal, for example.  In one aspect of the claimed inventions, there is a secondary 

station; a data channel for the transmission of data packets from a primary station 

to the secondary station and; a plurality of control channels for signaling of 

control information relating to the data packets from the primary station to the 

secondary station; and a way of determining which of the control channels is 

allocated to the secondary station wherein the control channels are allocated for a 

plurality of secondary stations according to a plurality of respective defined 

sequences, all of which are different, the allocated control channel being changed 

according to a respective defined sequence, and for monitoring the currently 

allocated control channel to determine information about packet transmissions.   

68. As required by Rule 210.12(c), Appendix C to this Complaint includes includes a 

copy of the prosecution history of the ’711 patent, and after filing, Complainants 

will provide a certified copy of the prosecution history of the ’711 patent as soon 

as it is received.  Appendix G to this Complaint includes copies of each technical 

reference cited in the prosecution history of the ’711 patent. 

4. U.S. Patent No. 7,831,271 

69. The ’271 patent entitled “Communication System and Method of Operating the 

Communicating System” was duly and legally issued on November 9, 2010, 

naming inventors Matthew P.J. Baker and Timothy J. Moulsley.  The ’271 patent 
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issued from United States Patent Application No. 10/567,042, filed on February 2, 

2006, which claims priority to GB 0318735.8 and GB 0410905.4 filed on August 

11, 2003 and May 4, 2004.  See Ex. 4; Appx. D.  With a patent term adjustment of 

1152 days, the ’271 patent indicates on its face that it expires no earlier than 

September 30, 2027. 

70. KPNV is the sole owner by assignment of all right, title, and interest in the ’271 

patent.  Copies of the recorded assignment documents related to the ’271 patent 

accompany this Complaint as Exhibit 23, and certified copies will be provided 

once received.   

71. The following foreign patents and published patent applications share common 

priority claims to the ’271 patent, GB 0318735.8 and GB 0410905.4: TW 

I455506; EP1656746 validated in Germany, Spain, France, UK, Italy, The 

Netherlands, Poland, Romania, Turkey; CN 200480022927.X; JP 4543037; KR 

1160604.   

72. In non-technical terms, the ’271 patent addresses various problems experienced 

by terminals in mobile communications systems having a maximum transmit 

power limit, but that limit can be exceeded sometimes when transmitting multiple 

signals simultaneously.  To address such problems, one approach is to reduce 

transmit power of the first signal to allow additional signals to be transmitting 

without breaching the maximum transmit power limit, but it may only be possible 

to reduce transmit power at particular time instants, and those time instants may 

not correspond to the times in which the additional signals must commence.  

Further, different types of additional signals may have different transmit power 
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requirements.  The claimed inventions address these various problems, enabling 

transmitting of an additional signal in a timely manner, and yet not exceeding the 

maximum power limit.  In one aspect of the inventions, one or more first signals 

(DPCCH, DPDCH) are transmitted simultaneously at a specified maximum 

combined transmit power level (P max).  In response to a received signal, the 

transmit power of the one or more first signals (DPCCH, DPDCH) is reduced, and 

there is a transmitting simultaneously with the one or more first signals (DPCCH, 

DPDCH) an additional one of a second signal (ACK or NACK) at a respective 

second specified power level (PA or PN) and a third signal (NACK or ACK) at a 

respective third specified power level (PN or PA).  The second specified power  

level (PA or PN) exceeds the third specified power level (PN or PA), and the 

reduction in transmit power of the one or more first signals (DPCCH, DPDCH) 

corresponds to the second specified power level (PA or PN) irrespective of 

whether the additional signal is the second signal (ACK or NACK) or the third 

signal (NACK or ACK), such that when the additional signal is the third signal 

(NACK or ACK), the combined transmit power level is less than the specified 

maximum combined transmit power level (P max).   

73. As required by Rule 210.12(c), Appendix D to this Complaint includes includes a 

copy of the prosecution history of the ’271 patent, and after filing, Complainants 

will provide a certified copy of the prosecution history of the ’271 patent as soon 

as it is received.  Appendix H to this Complaint includes copies of each technical 

reference cited in the prosecution history of the ’271 patent. 

VII. UNLAWFUL AND UNFAIR ACTS – PATENT INFRINGEMENT 
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A. Thales DIS USA and Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group (including 
Thales DIS USA, Thales DIS Deutschland, Thales USA, Thales S.A., CalAmp, 
Xirgo, Laird, and others to be identified through discovery) 

1. Representative Involved Articles (Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 
Respondent Group) 

74. The Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group, including Thales DIS USA, 

Thales DIS Deutschland, Thales USA, Thales S.A., CalAmp, Xirgo, Laird and 

others to be identified through discovery, act and have acted individually and in 

concert as a single enterprise and as agents to design, develop, manufacture, 

import into the United States, sell for importation into the United States, sell after 

importation into the United States, and/or use after importation into the United 

States products, including UMTS and LTE cellular communication modules and 

products containing the same that infringe, literally and/or by equivalence, claims 

1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 17 of the ’935 patent, claims 12 and 15 of the ’943 

patent, claims 9 and 12 of the ’711 patent, and claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of 

the ’271 patent.    

75. The Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group directly infringe the ’935, 

’943, ’711and ’271 patents in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a) with the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices.   

76. The Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group is also knowingly and 

intentionally inducing infringement of the ’935, ’943, ’711 and ’271 patents in 

violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(b) by actively encouraging others, including 

Respondents CalAmp, Xirgo, Laird and others to import, sell and use Accused 

Products that infringe the Asserted Claims.  The Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Respondent Group has had knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that the Thales 
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(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products infringe the Asserted Patents at least as 

early as December 11, 2015 and later, prior to the filing of this Complaint, when 

the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group received letters and other 

communications from Philips identifying the ’935, ’943, ’711 and ’271 patents.5  

With knowledge and intent, the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group is 

also encouraging and facilitating infringing sale and use of the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products by others, including users of the Thales 

products in the United States.  For example, the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Respondent Group markets, promotes and advertises the Accused Products, and 

offers data sheets, manuals, user guides and other materials that actively 

encourage others, including end users in the United States, to directly infringe 

the’935, ’943, ’711 and ’271 patents. 

77. The Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group is also contributing to 

infringement of the ’935, ’943, ’711 and ’271 patents in violation of 35 U.S.C. 

§ 271(c), by selling the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products with 

knowledge of the Asserted Patents, as the products have no substantial non-

infringing use and are at least a material part of the inventions claims in the 

Asserted Patents. 

78. Complainants have obtained at least the following Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Accused Products that are representative involved articles: Cinterion6 ELS61-US, 

                                                 
5 For example, Thales received a letter as early as December 11, 2015; CalAmp received a letter 
as early as October 19, 2020; Xirgo received a letter as early as October 19, 2020; Laird received 
a letter as early as November 12, 2020. 
6 The “Cinterion” products are sold by Thales but are referred to as “Cinterion” products.  As 
mentioned above, Gemalto had acquired Cinterion, and later Thales acquired Gemalto.  
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Cinterion PLS62-W, CalAmp HMU-3640LA, Xirgo XT6372R, and Laird 

Sentrius IG60. 

79. Complainants are offering for submission, as appropriate, the following sample 

Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products: Cinterion ELS61-US, Cinterion 

PLS62-W, CalAmp HMU-3640LA, Xirgo XT6372R, and Laird Sentrius IG60. 

80. The Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group products listed above are 

representative of other Thales products imported, sold for importation, sold in the 

United States after importation, and/or used in the United States after importation 

by the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group and others that feature the 

same or substantially similar functionality as the exemplary Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products.  Accordingly, Complainants allege that 

numerous other Thales products including products of others in addition to the 

Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group that infringe the Asserted Claims 

of the Asserted Patents and have been and are being imported, sold for 

importation, sold in the United States after importation, and/or used in the United 

States after importation by or on behalf of the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Respondent Group. 

2. Infringement of the ’935 Patent (Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 
Respondent Group) 

81. Exhibit 15 includes a chart comparing claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 17 of the 

’935 patent to Thales cellular communication modules models ELS61-US, 

PLS62-W, ELS31-V, CL31, ELS31, ELS61, ELS81, EMS31, ENS22, EXS62-W, 

EXS82-W, mPLAS9, mPLS62, mPLS8, PLAS9, PLPS9, PLS62, PLS8, TX62 

and the like, and IoT products incorporating the cellular communication modules 
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including Thales’ customer CalAmp model HMU-3640LA, Laird model IG60, 

and Xirgo model XT6372R, and the like (the “’935 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Devices”).  This exhibit shows that the ’935 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices 

are covered by at least claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 17 of the ’935 patent. 

82. As shown in Exhibit 15, the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group 

directly infringes claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 17 of the ’935 patent by 

making, using, selling, offering for sale and importing into the United States the 

’935 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices. 

83. The Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group directly infringe the ’935 

patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a) with the ’935 Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices.   

84. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’935 patent requires operation of the 

’935 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices for infringement, the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group has indirectly infringed and continues to 

indirectly infringe the asserted claims, literally and/or under the doctrine of 

equivalents, by actively inducing its users in the United States to use the ’935 

Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices in a manner that infringes claims of the ’935 

patent.  The Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group has had knowledge of 

the Asserted Patents and that the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products 

infringe the Asserted Patents by at least December 11, 2015 and later, prior to the 

filing of this Complaint, by letters and other communications from Philips.  With 

knowledge and intent, the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group is 

encouraging and facilitating infringing use of the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 
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Accused Products by users of the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products 

in the United States.  This includes the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent 

Group taking active steps to encourage and facilitate others’ direct infringement 

of the ’935 patent with knowledge of that infringement.  The affirmative acts 

include, without limitation, advertising, marketing, promoting, offering for sale 

and/or selling the above-identified devices, with software that includes infringing 

functionality, to consumers, customers, distributors, partners, resellers, and/or end 

users.  The Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group further provides 

instructions, user manuals, advertising and/or marketing materials on its website 

that facilitate, direct, or encourage the direct infringement in the United States of 

claims of the ’935 patent by others with knowledge thereof. 

85. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’935 patent requires operation of the 

’935 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices for infringement, the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group also has contributed to the infringement 

of, and continues to contribute to the infringement of the Asserted Claims of the 

’935 patent in the United States literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, 

by selling, offering to sell, and/or importing within or into the United States the 

Accused Products that practice the Asserted Claims when put into operation. The 

Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group has had knowledge of the 

Asserted Patents and that the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products 

infringe the Asserted Patents by December 11, 2015 and later, prior to the filing 

of this Complaint, by letters and other communications from Philips.  The 

hardware and software of the ’935 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices 
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constitutes a material part of the invention, is known by the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group to be especially made or adapted for use 

in infringing the ’935 patent, and is not a staple article or commodity of 

commerce that is suitable for substantial non-infringing use. 

3. Infringement of the ’943 Patent (Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 
Respondent Group) 

86. Exhibit 16 includes a chart comparing claims 12 and 15 of the ’943 patent to 

Thales cellular communication modules models ELS61-US, PLS62-W, ELS31-V, 

CL31, ELS31, ELS61, ELS81, EMS31, ENS22, EXS62-W, EXS82-W, mPLAS9, 

mPLS62, mPLS8, PLAS9, PLPS9, PLS62, PLS8, TX62 and the like, and IoT 

products incorporating the cellular communication modules including Thales’ 

customer CalAmp model HMU-3640LA, Laird model IG60, and Xirgo model 

XT6372R, and the like (the “’943 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices”).  This 

exhibit shows that the ’943 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices are covered by at 

least claims 12 and 15 of the ’943 patent.   

87. As shown in Exhibit 16, the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group 

directly infringes claims 12 and 15 of the ’943 patent by making, using, selling, 

offering for sale and importing into the United States the ’943 Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices. 

88. The Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group and its customers directly 

infringe the ’943 patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a) with the ’943 Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices.   

89. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’943 patent requires operation of the 

’943 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices for infringement, the Thales 
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(Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group has indirectly infringed and continues to 

indirectly infringe the asserted claims, literally and/or under the doctrine of 

equivalents, by actively inducing its users in the United States to use the ’943 

Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices in a manner that directly infringes the claims 

of the ’943 patent.  The Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group has had 

knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Accused Products infringe the Asserted Patents by at least December 11, 2015 

and later, prior to the filing of this Complaint, by letters and other 

communications from Philips.  With knowledge and intent, the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group is encouraging and facilitating infringing 

use of the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products by users of the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products in the United States.  This includes the 

Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group taking active steps to encourage 

and facilitate others’ direct infringement of the ’943 patent with knowledge of that 

infringement.  The affirmative acts include, without limitation, advertising, 

marketing, promoting, offering for sale and/or selling the above-identified 

devices, with software that includes infringing functionality, to consumers, 

customers, distributors, partners, resellers, and/or end users.  The Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group further provides instructions, user 

manuals, advertising and/or marketing materials on its website that facilitate, 

direct, or encourage the direct infringement in the United States of the claims of 

the ’943 patent by others with knowledge thereof. 
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90. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’943 patent requires operation of the 

’943 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices for infringement, the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group also has contributed to the infringement 

of, and continues to contribute to the infringement of the Asserted Claims of the 

’943 patent in the United States, literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, 

by selling, offering to sell, and/or importing within or into the United States the 

Accused Products that practice the Asserted Claims when put into operation.  The 

Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group has had knowledge of the 

Asserted Patents and that the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products 

infringe the Asserted Patents by at least December 11, 2015 and later, prior to the 

filing of this Complaint, by letters and other communications from Philips.  The 

hardware and software of the ’943 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices 

constitutes a material part of the invention, is known by the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group to be especially made or adapted for use 

in infringing the ’943 patent, and is not a staple article or commodity of 

commerce that is suitable for substantial non-infringing use. 

4. Infringement of the ’711 Patent (Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 
Respondent Group) 

91. Exhibit 17 includes a chart comparing claims 9 and 12 of the ’711 patent to 

Thales cellular communication modules models ELS61-US, PLS62-W, ELS31-V, 

CL31, ELS31, ELS61, ELS81, EMS31, ENS22, EXS62-W, EXS82-W, mPLAS9, 

mPLS62, mPLS8, PLAS9, PLPS9, PLS62, PLS8, TX62 and the like, and IoT 

products incorporating the cellular communication modules including Thales’ 

customer CalAmp model HMU-3640LA, Laird model IG60, and Xirgo model 
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XT6372R, and the like (the “’711 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices”).  This 

exhibit shows that the ’711 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices are covered by at 

least claims 9 and 12 of the ’711 patent.   

92. As shown in Exhibit 17, the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group 

directly infringes claims 9 and 12 of the ’711 patent by making, using, selling, 

offering for sale and importing into the United States the ’711 Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices. 

93. The Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group directly infringe the ’711 

patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a) with the ’711 Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices.   

94. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’711 patent requires operation of the 

’711 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices for infringement, the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group has indirectly infringed and continues to 

indirectly infringe the asserted claims, literally and/or under the doctrine of 

equivalents, by actively inducing its users in the United States to use the ’711 

Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices in a manner that directly infringes the claims 

of the ’711 patent.  The Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group has had 

knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Accused Products infringe the Asserted Patents by at least December 11, 2015 

and later, prior to the filing of this Complaint, by letters and other 

communications from Philips.  With knowledge and intent, the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group is encouraging and facilitating infringing 

use of the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products by users of the Thales 
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(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products in the United States.  This includes the 

Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group taking active steps to encourage 

and facilitate others’ direct infringement of the ’711 patent with knowledge of that 

infringement.  The affirmative acts include, without limitation, advertising, 

marketing, promoting, offering for sale and/or selling the above-identified 

devices, with software that includes infringing functionality, to consumers, 

customers, distributors, partners, resellers, and/or end users.  The Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group further provides instructions, user 

manuals, advertising and/or marketing materials on its website that facilitate, 

direct, or encourage the direct infringement in the United States of the claims of 

the ’711 patent by others with knowledge thereof. 

95. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’711 patent requires operation of the 

’711 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices for infringement, the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group also has contributed to the infringement 

of, and continues to contribute to the infringement of the Asserted Claims of the 

’711 patent in the United States, literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, 

by selling, offering to sell, and/or importing within or into the United States the 

Accused Products that practice the Asserted Claims when put into operation.  The 

Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group has had knowledge of the 

Asserted Patents and that the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products 

infringe the Asserted Patents by at least December 11, 2015 and later, prior to the 

filing of this Complaint, by letters and other communications from Philips.  The 

hardware and software of the ’711 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices 
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constitutes a material part of the invention, is known by the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group to be especially made or adapted for use 

in infringing the ’711 patent, and is not a staple article or commodity of 

commerce that is suitable for substantial non-infringing use. 

5. Infringement of the ’271 Patent (Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 
Respondent Group) 

96. Exhibit 18 includes a chart comparing claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of the ’271 

patent to Thales cellular communication modules models ELS61-US, PLS62-W, 

EHS5-US, EHS6, EHS5, EHS5T, EHS6T, EHS8, ELS61, ELS81, mPLAS9, 

mPLS62, mPLS8, PDS5, PDS6, PH8, PHS8, PLAS9, PLPS9, PLS62, PLS8, and 

the like, and IoT products incorporating the cellular communication modules 

including Thales’ customer CalAmp models HMU-3640LA, LMU-3030HBT, 

TTU-4530HE, and Laird model IG60, and the like (the “’271 Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices”).  This exhibit shows that the ’271 Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices are covered by at least claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 

of the ’271 patent.   

97. As shown in Exhibit 18, the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group 

directly infringes claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of the ’271 patent by making, 

using, selling, offering for sale and importing into the United States the ’271 

Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices. 

98. The Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group directly infringe the ’271 

patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a) with the ’271 Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices.   
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99. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’271 patent requires operation of the 

’271 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices for infringement, the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group has indirectly infringed and continues to 

indirectly infringe the asserted claims, literally and/or under the doctrine of 

equivalents, by actively inducing its users in the United States to use the ’271 

Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices in a manner that directly infringes the claims 

of the ’271 patent.  The Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group has had 

knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Accused Products infringe the Asserted Patents by at least December 11, 2015 

and later, prior to the filing of this Complaint, by letters and other 

communications from Philips.  With knowledge and intent, the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group is encouraging and facilitating infringing 

use of the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products by users of the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products in the United States.  This includes the 

Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group taking active steps to encourage 

and facilitate others’ direct infringement of the ’271 patent with knowledge of that 

infringement.  The affirmative acts include, without limitation, advertising, 

marketing, promoting, offering for sale and/or selling the above-identified 

devices, with software that includes infringing functionality, to consumers, 

customers, distributors, partners, resellers, and/or end users.  The Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group further provides instructions, user 

manuals, advertising and/or marketing materials on its website that facilitate, 
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direct, or encourage the direct infringement in the United States of the claims of 

the ’271 patent by others with knowledge thereof. 

100. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’271 patent requires operation of the 

’271 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices for infringement, the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group also has contributed to the infringement 

of, and continues to contribute to the infringement of the Asserted Claims of the 

’271 patent in the United States, literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, 

by selling, offering to sell, and/or importing within or into the United States the 

Accused Products that practice the Asserted Claims when put into operation.  The 

Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group has had knowledge of the 

Asserted Patents and that the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products 

infringe the Asserted Patents by at least December 11, 2015 and later, prior to the 

filing of this Complaint, by letters and other communications from Philips.  The 

hardware and software of the ’271 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices 

constitutes a material part of the invention, is known by the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group to be especially made or adapted for use 

in infringing the ’271 patent, and is not a staple article or commodity of 

commerce that is suitable for substantial non-infringing use. 

6. Specific Instances of Importation into the United States, Sale for 
Importation, or Sale within the United States after Importation (Thales 
(Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group) 

101. The Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group engaged in importation, use, 

and sales and marketing related to the Accused Products.  The exemplary Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products were manufactured by the 

Thales(Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group or by third parties in factories 
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located outside of the United States.  The exemplary Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Accused Products were imported into the United States, sold for importation into 

the United States, and/or sold after importation in the United States after 

importation in the United States by the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent 

Group.  For example, the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) ELS31-V, which is part of 

the Xirgo XT6372R, indicates that it is “Made in” a location outside the United 

States, and the Xirgo XT6372R was purchased in the United States.  See Ex. 9 at 

pp. 3 and 11.  Similarly, the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) PLS62-W, which is part 

of the Laird Sentrius IG60, indicates that it is “Made in” a location outside the 

United States, and the PLS62-W and Laird Sentrius IG60 were purchased in the 

United States.  See id. at pp. 4 and 12-13.  Similarly, the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) ELS61-US, which is part of the CalAmp HMU-3640LA, 

indicates that it is “Made in” a location outside the United States, and the CalAmp 

HMU-3640LA was purchased in the United States.  See id. at pp. 5 and 14-16.   

B. Thales DIS Deutschland 

102. Thales DIS Deutschland is included within the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Respondent Group and, therefore, the foregoing paragraphs 74-101 pertaining to 

the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group are repeated and realleged as 

to Thales DIS Deutschland.  

C. Thales USA  

103. Thales USA is included within the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group 

and, therefore, the foregoing paragraphs 74-101 pertaining to the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group are repeated and realleged as to Thales 

USA.  
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D. Thales S.A. 

104. Thales S.A. is included within the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group 

and, therefore, the foregoing paragraphs 74-101 pertaining to the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group are repeated and realleged as to Thales 

S.A.  

E. Telit Wireless and the Telit Respondent Group (Telit Wireless, Telit 
Communications, CalAmp and others to be identified through discovery) 

1. Representative Involved Articles (Telit Respondent Group) 

105. The Telit Respondent Group, including Telit Wireless, Telit Communications, 

CalAmp and others to be identified through discovery, act and have acted 

individually and in concert as a single enterprise and as agents to design, develop, 

manufacture, import into the United States, sell for importation into the United 

States, sell after importation into the United States, and/or use after importation 

into the United States products, including UMTS and LTE cellular 

communication modules and products containing the same that infringe, literally 

and/or by equivalence, claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 17 of the ’935 patent, 

claims 12 and 15 of the ’943 patent, claims 9 and 12 of the ’711 patent, and 

claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of the ’271 patent.   

106. The Telit Respondent Group directly infringe the ’935, ’943, ’711 and ’271 

patents in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a) with the Telit Devices.   

107. The Telit Respondent Group is also knowingly and intentionally inducing 

infringement of the ’935, ’943, ’711 and ’271 patents in violation of 35 U.S.C. 

§ 271(b) by actively encouraging others, including Respondent CalAmp and 

others to import, sell and use Accused Products that infringe the Asserted Claims.  
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The Telit Respondent Group has had knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that 

the Telit Accused Products infringe the Asserted Patents at least as early as July 6, 

2015 and later, prior to the filing of this Complaint, when the Telit Respondent 

Group received letters and other communications from Philips identifying the 

’935, ’943, ’711 and ’271 patents.7  With knowledge and intent, the Telit 

Respondent Group is also encouraging and facilitating infringing sale and use of 

the Telit Accused Products by others, including users of the Telit products in the 

United States.  For example, the Telit Respondent Group markets, promotes and 

advertises the Accused Products, and offers data sheets, manuals, user guides and 

other materials that actively encourage others, including end users in the United 

States, to directly infringe the’935, ’943, ’711 and ’271 patents. 

108. The Telit Respondent Group is also contributing to infringement of the ’935, 

’943, ’711 and ’271 patents in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(c), by selling the Telit 

Accused Products with knowledge of the Asserted Patents, as the products have 

no substantial non-infringing use and are at least a material part of the inventions 

claims in the Asserted Patents. 

109. Complainants have obtained at least the following Telit Accused Products that are 

representative involved articles: Telit LE910 NA-V2 and CalAmp LMU-

3640LAB. 

110. Complainants are offering for submission, as appropriate, the following sample 

Telit Accused Products: Telit LE910 NA-V2 and CalAmp LMU-3640LAB. 

                                                 
7 For example, Telit received a letter as early as July 6, 2015; CalAmp received a letter as early 
as October 19, 2020; Xirgo received a letter as early as October 19, 2020; Laird received a letter 
as early as November 12, 2020. 
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111. The Telit Respondent Group products listed above are representative of other 

Telit products imported, sold for importation, sold in the United States after 

importation, and/or used in the United States after importation by the Telit 

Respondent Group and others that feature the same or substantially similar 

functionality as the exemplary Telit Accused Products.  Accordingly, 

Complainants allege that numerous other Telit products including products of 

others in addition to the Telit Respondent Group that infringe the Asserted Claims 

of the Asserted Patents and have been and are being imported, sold for 

importation, sold in the United States after importation, and/or used in the United 

States after importation by or on behalf of the Telit Respondent Group. 

2. Infringement of the ’935 Patent (Telit Respondent Group) 

112. Exhibit 10 includes a chart comparing claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 17 of the 

’935 patent to Telit cellular communication modules models xE910, LE910-NA 

V2, LE910B1-NA, LE910B1-SA, LE910B4-NA, LE910C1/C4-NF, LE910C1-

LA, LE910C1-NA, LE910C1-NS, LE910C1-SA, LE910C1-ST, LE910C1-SV, 

LE910-NA1, LE910-NAG, LE910-NVG, LE910-SV V2, LE910-SV1, LE910-

SVG, LE910-SVL, LE910C4-NF, ME910C1-N1, ME910C1-NA, ME910C1-NV, 

ME910C1-WW, ME910G1-W1, ME910G1-WW, NE910C1-NA, LE920A4-NA, 

LE920-NA, LE920-NAG, LE940A9, LE940B6, LM940, LM960A18, LM960A9-

P, LN930, LN931-NAG, LN932, LN940A9, LN940A11, LN960A16, ME310G1-

W1, ME310G1-WW, ME866A1-NA, ME866A1-NV, ML865C1-NA, ML865G1-

WW, NE310H2-W1, NL865B1, NL865H2-W1, FN980, FN980m, LE866A1-NA, 

LE866-SV1 and the like, and IoT products incorporating the cellular 

communication modules including Telit’s customer CalAmp model LMU-



 

43 
 

 

3640LAB, and the like (the “’935 Telit Devices”).  This exhibit shows that the 

’935 Telit Devices are covered by at least claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 17 of 

the ’935 patent. 

113. As shown in Exhibit 10, the Telit Respondent Group directly infringes claims 1, 

2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 17 of the ’935 patent by making, using, selling, offering 

for sale and importing into the United States the ’935 Telit Devices. 

114. The Telit Respondent Group directly infringe the ’935 patent in violation of 35 

U.S.C. § 271(a) with the ’935 Telit Devices.   

115. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’935 patent requires operation of the 

’935 Telit Devices for infringement, the Telit Respondent Group has indirectly 

infringed and continues to indirectly infringe the asserted claims, literally and/or 

under the doctrine of equivalents, by actively inducing its users in the United 

States to use the ’935 Telit Devices in a manner that infringes claims of the ’935 

patent.  The Telit Respondent Group has had knowledge of the Asserted Patents 

and that the Telit Accused Products infringe the Asserted Patents by at least July 

6, 2015 and later, prior to the filing of this Complaint, by letters and other 

communications from Philips.  With knowledge and intent, the Telit Respondent 

Group is encouraging and facilitating infringing use of the Telit Accused Products 

by users of the Telit Accused Products in the United States.  This includes the 

Telit Respondent Group taking active steps to encourage and facilitate others’ 

direct infringement of the ’935 patent with knowledge of that infringement.  The 

affirmative acts include, without limitation, advertising, marketing, promoting, 

offering for sale and/or selling the above-identified devices, with software that 
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includes infringing functionality, to consumers, customers, distributors, partners, 

resellers, and/or end users.  The Telit Respondent Group further provides 

instructions, user manuals, advertising and/or marketing materials on its website 

that facilitate, direct, or encourage the direct infringement in the United States of 

claims of the ’935 patent by others with knowledge thereof. 

116. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’935 patent requires operation of the 

’935 Telit Devices for infringement, the Telit Respondent Group also has 

contributed to the infringement of, and continues to contribute to the infringement 

of the Asserted Claims of the ’935 patent in the United States literally and/or 

under the doctrine of equivalents, by selling, offering to sell, and/or importing 

within or into the United States the Accused Products that practice the Asserted 

Claims when put into operation.  The Telit Respondent Group has had knowledge 

of the Asserted Patents and that the Telit Accused Products infringe the Asserted 

Patents by July 6, 2015 and later, prior to the filing of this Complaint, by letters 

and other communications from Philips.  The hardware and software of the ’935 

Telit Devices constitutes a material part of the invention, is known by the Telit 

Respondent Group to be especially made or adapted for use in infringing the ’935 

patent, and is not a staple article or commodity of commerce that is suitable for 

substantial non-infringing use. 

3. Infringement of the ’943 Patent (Telit Respondent Group) 

117. Exhibit 11 includes a chart comparing claims 12 and 15 of the ’943 patent to Telit 

cellular communication modules models xE910, LE910-NA V2, LE910B1-NA, 

LE910B1-SA, LE910B4-NA, LE910C1/C4-NF, LE910C1-LA, LE910C1-NA, 

LE910C1-NS, LE910C1-SA, LE910C1-ST, LE910C1-SV, LE910-NA1, LE910-
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NAG, LE910-NVG, LE910-SV V2, LE910-SV1, LE910-SVG, LE910-SVL, 

LE910C4-NF, ME910C1-N1, ME910C1-NA, ME910C1-NV, ME910C1-WW, 

ME910G1-W1, ME910G1-WW, NE910C1-NA, LE920A4-NA, LE920-NA, 

LE920-NAG, LE940A9, LE940B6, LM940, LM960A18, LM960A9-P, LN930, 

LN931-NAG, LN932, LN940A9, LN940A11, LN960A16, ME310G1-W1, 

ME310G1-WW, ME866A1-NA, ME866A1-NV, ML865C1-NA, ML865G1-

WW, NE310H2-W1, NL865B1, NL865H2-W1, FN980, FN980m, LE866A1-NA, 

LE866-SV1 and the like, and IoT products incorporating the cellular 

communication modules including Telit’s customer CalAmp model LMU-

3640LAB, and the like (the “’943 Telit Devices”).  This exhibit shows that the 

’943 Telit Devices are covered by at least claims 12 and 15 of the ’943 patent.   

118. As shown in Exhibit 11, the Telit Respondent Group directly infringes claims 12 

and 15 of the ’943 patent by making, using, selling, offering for sale and 

importing into the United States the ’943 Telit Devices. 

119. The Telit Respondent Group directly infringe the ’943 patent in violation of 35 

U.S.C. § 271(a) with the ’943 Telit Devices.   

120. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’943 patent requires operation of the 

’943 Telit Devices for infringement, the Telit Respondent Group has indirectly 

infringed and continues to indirectly infringe the asserted claims, literally and/or 

under the doctrine of equivalents, by actively inducing its users in the United 

States to use the ’943 Telit Devices in a manner that directly infringes the claims 

of the ’943 patent.  The Telit Respondent Group has had knowledge of the 

Asserted Patents and that the Telit Accused Products infringe the Asserted Patents 
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by at least July 6, 2015 and later, prior to the filing of this Complaint, by letters 

and other communications from Philips.  With knowledge and intent, the Telit 

Respondent Group is encouraging and facilitating infringing use of the Telit 

Accused Products by users of the Telit Accused Products in the United States.  

This includes the Telit Respondent Group taking active steps to encourage and 

facilitate others’ direct infringement of the ’943 patent with knowledge of that 

infringement.  The affirmative acts include, without limitation, advertising, 

marketing, promoting, offering for sale and/or selling the above-identified 

devices, with software that includes infringing functionality, to consumers, 

customers, distributors, partners, resellers, and/or end users.  The Telit 

Respondent Group further provides instructions, user manuals, advertising and/or 

marketing materials on its website that facilitate, direct, or encourage the direct 

infringement in the United States of the claims of the ’943 patent by others with 

knowledge thereof. 

121. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’943 patent requires operation of the 

’943 Telit Devices for infringement, the Telit Respondent Group also has 

contributed to the infringement of, and continues to contribute to the infringement 

of the Asserted Claims of the ’943 patent in the United States, literally and/or 

under the doctrine of equivalents, by selling, offering to sell, and/or importing 

within or into the United States the Accused Products that practice the Asserted 

Claims when put into operation. The Telit Respondent Group has had knowledge 

of the Asserted Patents and that the Telit Accused Products infringe the Asserted 

Patents by at least July 6, 2015 and later, prior to the filing of this Complaint, by 
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letters and other communications from Philips.  The hardware and software of the 

’943 Telit Devices constitutes a material part of the invention, is known by the 

Telit Respondent Group to be especially made or adapted for use in infringing the 

’943 patent, and is not a staple article or commodity of commerce that is suitable 

for substantial non-infringing use. 

4. Infringement of the ’711 Patent (Telit Respondent Group) 

122. Exhibit 12 includes a chart comparing claims 9 and 12 of the ’711 patent to Telit 

cellular communication modules models xE910, LE910-NA V2, LE910B1-NA, 

LE910B1-SA, LE910B4-NA, LE910C1/C4-NF, LE910C1-LA, LE910C1-NA, 

LE910C1-NS, LE910C1-SA, LE910C1-ST, LE910C1-SV, LE910-NA1, LE910-

NAG, LE910-NVG, LE910-SV V2, LE910-SV1, LE910-SVG, LE910-SVL, 

LE910C4-NF, ME910C1-N1, ME910C1-NA, ME910C1-NV, ME910C1-WW, 

ME910G1-W1, ME910G1-WW, NE910C1-NA, LE920A4-NA, LE920-NA, 

LE920-NAG, LE940A9, LE940B6, LM940, LM960A18, LM960A9-P, LN930, 

LN931-NAG, LN932, LN940A9, LN940A11, LN960A16, ME310G1-W1, 

ME310G1-WW, ME866A1-NA, ME866A1-NV, ML865C1-NA, ML865G1-

WW, NE310H2-W1, NL865B1, NL865H2-W1, FN980, FN980m, LE866A1-NA, 

LE866-SV1 and the like, and IoT products incorporating the cellular 

communication modules including Telit’s customer CalAmp model LMU-

3640LAB, and the like (the “’711 Telit Devices”).  This exhibit shows that the 

’711 Telit Devices are covered by at least claims 9 and 12 of the ’711 patent.   

123. As shown in Exhibit 12, the Telit Respondent Group directly infringes claims 9 

and 12 of the ’711 patent by making, using, selling, offering for sale and 

importing into the United States the ’711 Telit Devices. 
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124. The Telit Respondent Group directly infringe the ’711 patent in violation of 35 

U.S.C. § 271(a) with the ’711 Telit Devices.   

125. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’711 patent requires operation of the 

’711 Telit Devices for infringement, the Telit Respondent Group has indirectly 

infringed and continues to indirectly infringe the asserted claims, literally and/or 

under the doctrine of equivalents, by actively inducing its users in the United 

States to use the ’711 Telit Devices in a manner that directly infringes the claims 

of the ’711 patent.  The Telit Respondent Group has had knowledge of the 

Asserted Patents and that the Telit Accused Products infringe the Asserted Patents 

by at least July 6, 2015 and later, prior to the filing of this Complaint, by letters 

and other communications from Philips.  With knowledge and intent, the Telit 

Respondent Group is encouraging and facilitating infringing use of the Telit 

Accused Products by users of the Telit Accused Products in the United States.  

This includes the Telit Respondent Group taking active steps to encourage and 

facilitate others’ direct infringement of the ’711 patent with knowledge of that 

infringement.  The affirmative acts include, without limitation, advertising, 

marketing, promoting, offering for sale and/or selling the above-identified 

devices, with software that includes infringing functionality, to consumers, 

customers, distributors, partners, resellers, and/or end users.  The Telit 

Respondent Group further provides instructions, user manuals, advertising and/or 

marketing materials on its website that facilitate, direct, or encourage the direct 

infringement in the United States of the claims of the ’711 patent by others with 

knowledge thereof. 
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126. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’711 patent requires operation of the 

’711 Telit Devices for infringement, the Telit Respondent Group also has 

contributed to the infringement of, and continues to contribute to the infringement 

of the Asserted Claims of the ’711 patent in the United States, literally and/or 

under the doctrine of equivalents, by selling, offering to sell, and/or importing 

within or into the United States the Accused Products that practice the Asserted 

Claims when put into operation.  The Telit Respondent Group has had knowledge 

of the Asserted Patents and that the Telit Accused Products infringe the Asserted 

Patents by at least July 6, 2015 and later, prior to the filing of this Complaint, by 

letters and other communications from Philips.  The hardware and software of the 

’711 Telit Devices constitutes a material part of the invention, is known by the 

Telit Respondent Group to be especially made or adapted for use in infringing the 

’711 patent, and is not a staple article or commodity of commerce that is suitable 

for substantial non-infringing use. 

5. Infringement of the ’271 Patent (Telit Respondent Group) 

127. Exhibit 13 includes a chart comparing claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of the ’271 

patent to Telit cellular communication modules models xE910, LE910-NA V2, 

LE910B1-NA, HE910, HE910-NA, HE910-NAR, LE910B4-NA, LE910C1/C4-

NF, LE910C1-NA, LE910C4-NF, LE910-NA1, LE910-NAG, LE910-NVG, 

LE920-NA, LE920-NAG, LE940A9, LE940B6, LM940, LM960, LN930, 

LN931-NAG, LN932, LN940, LN960A16, UC864, UE866-N3G, UE910-GL, 

UE910-N3G, UE910-NA V2, UE910-NAD, UE910-NAR, UL865-N3G, UL865-

NAD, UL865-NAR, FN980, FN980m, HC864, HE863-NAD, HE863-NAG, 

HE920, HE922-3GR, HS3002-NA and the like, and IoT products incorporating 
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the cellular communication modules including Telit’s customer CalAmp model 

LMU-3640LAB, and the like (the “’271 Telit Devices”).  This exhibit shows that 

the ’271 Telit Devices are covered by at least claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of the 

’271 patent.   

128. As shown in Exhibit 13, the Telit Respondent Group directly infringes claims 1, 

2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of the ’271 patent by making, using, selling, offering for sale 

and importing into the United States the ’271 Telit Devices. 

129. The Telit Respondent Group directly infringe the ’271 patent in violation of 35 

U.S.C. § 271(a) with the ’271 Telit Devices.   

130. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’271 patent requires operation of the 

’271 Telit Devices for infringement, the Telit Respondent Group has indirectly 

infringed and continues to indirectly infringe the asserted claims, literally and/or 

under the doctrine of equivalents, by actively inducing its users in the United 

States to use the ’271 Telit Devices in a manner that directly infringes the claims 

of the ’271 patent.  The Telit Respondent Group has had knowledge of the 

Asserted Patents and that the Telit Accused Products infringe the Asserted Patents 

by at least July 6, 2015 and later, prior to the filing of this Complaint, by letters 

and other communications from Philips.  With knowledge and intent, the Telit 

Respondent Group is encouraging and facilitating infringing use of the Telit 

Accused Products by users of the Telit Accused Products in the United States.  

This includes the Telit Respondent Group taking active steps to encourage and 

facilitate others’ direct infringement of the ’271 patent with knowledge of that 

infringement.  The affirmative acts include, without limitation, advertising, 
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marketing, promoting, offering for sale and/or selling the above-identified 

devices, with software that includes infringing functionality, to consumers, 

customers, distributors, partners, resellers, and/or end users.  The Telit 

Respondent Group further provides instructions, user manuals, advertising and/or 

marketing materials on its website that facilitate, direct, or encourage the direct 

infringement in the United States of the claims of the ’271 patent by others with 

knowledge thereof. 

131. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’271 patent requires operation of the 

’271 Telit Devices for infringement, the Telit Respondent Group also has 

contributed to the infringement of, and continues to contribute to the infringement 

of the Asserted Claims of the ’271 patent in the United States, literally and/or 

under the doctrine of equivalents, by selling, offering to sell, and/or importing 

within or into the United States the Accused Products that practice the Asserted 

Claims when put into operation.  The Telit Respondent Group has had knowledge 

of the Asserted Patents and that the Telit Accused Products infringe the Asserted 

Patents by at least July 6, 2015 and later, prior to the filing of this Complaint, by 

letters and other communications from Philips.  The hardware and software of the 

’271 Telit Devices constitutes a material part of the invention, is known by the 

Telit Respondent Group to be especially made or adapted for use in infringing the 

’271 patent, and is not a staple article or commodity of commerce that is suitable 

for substantial non-infringing use. 
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6. Specific Instances of Importation into the United States, Sale for 
Importation, or Sale within the United States after Importation (Telit Respondent 
Group) 

132. The Telit Respondent Group is engaged in importation, use, and sales and 

marketing related to the Accused Products.  The exemplary Telit Accused 

Products were manufactured by the Telit Respondent Group or by third parties in 

factories located outside of the United States.  The exemplary Telit Accused 

Products were then imported into the United States, sold for importation into the 

United States, and/or sold after importation in the United States after importation 

in the United States by the Telit Respondent Group.  For example, the Telit 

LE910-NA1, which is part of the CalAmp LMU-3640LAB, indicates that it is 

“Made in” a location outside the United States, and the CalAmp LMU-3640LAB 

similarly indicates that it is “Assembled in” a location outside the United States. 

See Ex. 9 at pp. 6.  The CalAmp LMU-3640LAB and Telit LE910-NA1 were 

both separately purchased in the United States.  See id. at 16-17. 

F. Telit Communications 

133. Telit Communications is included within the Telit Respondent Group and, 

therefore, the foregoing paragraphs 105-132 pertaining to the Telit Respondent 

Group are repeated and realleged as to Telit Communications.    

G. Quectel and the Quectel Respondent Group (Quectel, CalAmp, Xirgo, Laird and 
others to be identified through discovery) 

1. Representative Involved Articles (Quectel Respondent Group) 

134. The Quectel Respondent Group, including Quectel, CalAmp, Xirgo, Laird and 

others to be identified through discovery, act and have acted individually and in 

concert as a single enterprise and as agents to design, develop, manufacture, 



 

53 
 

 

import into the United States, sell for importation into the United States, sell after 

importation into the United States, and/or use after importation into the United 

States products, including UMTS and LTE cellular communication modules and 

products containing the same that infringe, literally and/or by equivalence, claims 

1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 17 of the ’935 patent, claims 12 and 15 of the ’943 

patent, claims 9 and 12 of the ’711 patent, and claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of 

the ’271 patent.   

135. The Quectel Respondent Group directly infringe the ’935, ’943, ’711 and ’271 

patents in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a) with the Quectel Devices.   

136. The Quectel Respondent Group is also knowingly and intentionally inducing 

infringement of the ’935, ’943, ’711 and ’271 patents in violation of 35 U.S.C. 

§ 271(b) by actively encouraging others, including Respondents CalAmp, Laird,  

Xirgo, and others to be identified through discovery to import, sell and use 

Accused Products that infringe the Asserted Claims.  The Quectel Respondent 

Group has had knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that the Quectel Accused 

Products infringe the Asserted Patents at least as early as December 29, 2015 and 

later, prior to the filing of this Complaint, when the Quectel Respondent Group 

received letters and other communications from Philips identifying the ’935, ’943, 

’711 and ’271 patents.8  With knowledge and intent, the Quectel Respondent 

Group is also encouraging and facilitating infringing sale and use of the Quectel 

Accused Products by others, including users of the Quectel products in the United 

                                                 
8 For example, Quectel received a letter as early as December 29, 2015; CalAmp received a letter 
as early as October 19, 2020; Xirgo received a letter as early as October 19, 2020; Laird received 
a letter as early as November 12, 2020. 
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States.  For example, the Quectel Respondent Group markets, promotes and 

advertises the Accused Products, and offers data sheets, manuals, user guides and 

other materials that actively encourage others, including end users in the United 

States, to directly infringe the ’935, ’943, ’711 and ’271 patents. 

137. The Quectel Respondent Group is also contributing to infringement of the ’935, 

’943, ’711 and ’271 patents in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(c), by selling the 

Quectel Accused Products with knowledge of the Asserted Patents, as the 

products have no substantial non-infringing use and are at least a material part of 

the inventions claims in the Asserted Patents. 

138. Complainants have obtained at least the following Quectel Accused Products that 

are representative involved articles: Quectel EG25-G, Quectel EG91-NA, Quectel 

BG96, Laird model Sentrius RG1xx, CalAmp model LMU-3640MB. 

139. Complainants are offering for submission, as appropriate, the following sample 

Quectel Accused Products: Quectel EG25-G, Quectel EG91-NA, Quectel BG96, 

Laird Sentrius RG1xx, CalAmpLMU-3640MB. 

140. Quectel Respondent Group products listed above are representative of other 

Quectel products imported, sold for importation, sold in the United States after 

importation, and/or used in the United States after importation by Quectel 

Respondent Group and others that feature the same or substantially similar 

functionality as the exemplary Quectel Accused Products.  Accordingly, 

Complainants allege that numerous other Quectel products including products of 

others in addition to the Quectel Respondent Group that infringe the Asserted 

Claims of the Asserted Patents and have been and are being imported, sold for 
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importation, sold in the United States after importation, and/or used in the United 

States after importation by or on behalf of the Quectel Respondent Group. 

2. Infringement of the ’935 Patent (Quectel Respondent Group) 

141. Exhibit 5 includes a chart comparing claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 17 of the 

’935 patent to Quectel cellular communication modules models EG25-G, EG91, 

EG91-xx, BG96, AG15, AG35, AG520R, AG550Q, BC65, BC66, BC66-NA, 

BC68, BC92, BC95-G, BG600L-M3, BG77, BG95, EC20, EC21, EC25, EG06, 

EG12, EG18, EG21-G, EG95, EM05, EM06, EM12-G, EP06, RG500Q, 

RM500Q-GL, SC20, SC200R, SC600T, SC600Y, SC66 and the like, and IoT 

products incorporating the cellular communication modules including Quectel’s 

customers Xirgo model XT6264, Laird model Sentrius RG1xx, and CalAmp 

models LMU-3640MB, LMU-2x30, LMU-3640LAB, LMU-3640LVB, LMU-

3641MB, and the like (the “’935 Quectel Devices”).  This exhibit shows that the 

’935 Quectel Devices are covered by at least claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 17 

of the ’935 patent. 

142. As shown in Exhibit 5, the Quectel Respondent Group directly infringes claims 1, 

2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 17 of the ’935 patent by making, using, selling, offering 

for sale and importing into the United States the ’935 Quectel Devices. 

143. The Quectel Respondent Group directly infringe the ’935 patent in violation of 35 

U.S.C. § 271(a) with the ’935 Quectel Devices.   

144. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’935 patent requires operation of the 

’935 Quectel Devices for infringement, the Quectel Respondent Group has 

indirectly infringed and continues to indirectly infringe the asserted claims, 

literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, by actively inducing its users in 
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the United States to use the ’935 Quectel Devices in a manner that infringes 

claims of the ’935 patent.  The Quectel Respondent Group has had knowledge of 

the Asserted Patents and that the Quectel Accused Products infringe the Asserted 

Patents by at least December 29, 2015 and later, prior to the filing of this 

Complaint, by letters and other communications from Philips.  With knowledge 

and intent, the Quectel Respondent Group is encouraging and facilitating 

infringing use of the Quectel Accused Products by users of the Quectel Accused 

Products in the United States.  This includes the Quectel Respondent Group 

taking active steps to encourage and facilitate others’ direct infringement of the 

’935 patent with knowledge of that infringement.  The affirmative acts include, 

without limitation, advertising, marketing, promoting, offering for sale and/or 

selling the above-identified devices, with software that includes infringing 

functionality, to consumers, customers, distributors, partners, resellers, and/or end 

users.  The Quectel Respondent Group further provides instructions, user 

manuals, advertising and/or marketing materials on its website that facilitate, 

direct, or encourage the direct infringement in the United States of claims of the 

’935 patent by others with knowledge thereof. 

145. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’935 patent requires operation of the 

’935 Quectel Devices for infringement, the Quectel Respondent Group also has 

contributed to the infringement of, and continues to contribute to the infringement 

of the Asserted Claims of the ’935 patent in the United States literally and/or 

under the doctrine of equivalents, by selling, offering to sell, and/or importing 

within or into the United States the Accused Products that practice the Asserted 
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Claims when put into operation.  The Quectel Respondent Group has had 

knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that the Quectel Accused Products infringe 

the Asserted Patents by December 29, 2015 and later, prior to the filing of this 

Complaint, by letters and other communications from Philips.  The hardware and 

software of the ’935 Quectel Devices constitutes a material part of the invention, 

is known by the Quectel Respondent Group to be especially made or adapted for 

use in infringing the ’935 patent, and is not a staple article or commodity of 

commerce that is suitable for substantial non-infringing use. 

3. Infringement of the ’943 Patent (Quectel Respondent Group) 

146. Exhibit 6 includes a chart comparing claims 12 and 15 of the ’943 patent to 

Quectel devices cellular communication modules models EG25-G, EG91, EG91-

xx, BG96, AG15, AG35, AG520R, AG550Q, BC65, BC66, BC66-NA, BC68, 

BC92, BC95-G, BG600L-M3, BG77, BG95, EC20, EC21, EC25, EG06, EG12, 

EG18, EG21-G, EG95, EM05, EM06, EM12-G, EP06, RG500Q, RM500Q-GL, 

SC20, SC200R, SC600T, SC600Y, SC66 and the like, and IoT products 

incorporating the cellular communication modules including Quectel’s customers 

Xirgo model XT6264, Laird model Sentrius RG1xx, and CalAmp models LMU-

3640MB, LMU-2x30, LMU-3640LAB, LMU-3640LVB, LMU-3641MB, and the 

like (the “’943 Quectel Devices”).  This exhibit shows that the ’943 Quectel 

Devices are covered by at least claims 12 and 15 of the ’943 patent.   

147. As shown in Exhibit 6, the Quectel Respondent Group directly infringes claims 

12 and 15 of the ’943 patent by making, using, selling, offering for sale and 

importing into the United States the ’943 Quectel Devices. 
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148. The Quectel Respondent Group directly infringe the ’943 patent in violation of 35 

U.S.C. § 271(a) with the ’943 Quectel Devices.   

149. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’943 patent requires operation of the 

’943 Quectel Devices for infringement, the Quectel Respondent Group has 

indirectly infringed and continues to indirectly infringe the asserted claims, 

literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, by actively inducing its users in 

the United States to use the ’943 Quectel Devices in a manner that directly 

infringes the claims of the ’943 patent.  The Quectel Respondent Group has had 

knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that the Quectel Accused Products infringe 

the Asserted Patents by at least December 29, 2015 and later, prior to the filing of 

this Complaint, by letters and other communications from Philips.  With 

knowledge and intent, the Quectel Respondent Group is encouraging and 

facilitating infringing use of the Quectel Accused Products by users of the Quectel 

Accused Products in the United States.  This includes the Quectel Respondent 

Group taking active steps to encourage and facilitate others’ direct infringement 

of the ’943 patent with knowledge of that infringement.  The affirmative acts 

include, without limitation, advertising, marketing, promoting, offering for sale 

and/or selling the above-identified devices, with software that includes infringing 

functionality, to consumers, customers, distributors, partners, resellers, and/or end 

users.  The Quectel Respondent Group further provides instructions, user 

manuals, advertising and/or marketing materials on its website that facilitate, 

direct, or encourage the direct infringement in the United States of the claims of 

the ’943 patent by others with knowledge thereof. 
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150. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’943 patent requires operation of the 

’943 Quectel Devices for infringement, the Quectel Respondent Group also has 

contributed to the infringement of, and continues to contribute to the infringement 

of the Asserted Claims of the ’943 patent in the United States, literally and/or 

under the doctrine of equivalents, by selling, offering to sell, and/or importing 

within or into the United States the Accused Products that practice the Asserted 

Claims when put into operation.  The Quectel Respondent Group has had 

knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that the Quectel Accused Products infringe 

the Asserted Patents by at least December 29, 2015 and later, prior to the filing of 

this Complaint, by letters and other communications from Philips.  The hardware 

and software of the ’943 Quectel Devices constitutes a material part of the 

invention, is known by the Quectel Respondent Group to be especially made or 

adapted for use in infringing the ’943 patent, and is not a staple article or 

commodity of commerce that is suitable for substantial non-infringing use. 

4. Infringement of the ’711 Patent (Quectel Respondent Group) 

151. Exhibit 7 includes a chart comparing claims 9 and 12 of the ’711 patent to 

Quectel devices cellular communication modules models EG25-G, EG91, EG91-

xx, BG96, AG15, AG35, AG520R, AG550Q, BC65, BC66, BC66-NA, BC68, 

BC92, BC95-G, BG600L-M3, BG77, BG95, EC20, EC21, EC25, EG06, EG12, 

EG18, EG21-G, EG95, EM05, EM06, EM12-G, EP06, RG500Q, RM500Q-GL, 

SC20, SC200R, SC600T, SC600Y, SC66 and the like, and IoT products 

incorporating the cellular communication modules including Quectel’s customers 

Xirgo model XT6264, Laird model Sentrius RG1xx, and CalAmp models LMU-

3640MB, LMU-2x30, LMU-3640LAB, LMU-3640LVB, LMU-3641MB, and the 
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like (the “’711 Quectel Devices”).  This exhibit shows that the ’711 Quectel 

Devices are covered by at least claims 9 and 12 of the ’711 patent.   

152. As shown in Exhibit 7, the Quectel Respondent Group directly infringes claims 9 

and 12 of the ’711 patent by making, using, selling, offering for sale and 

importing into the United States the ’711 Quectel Devices. 

153. The Quectel Respondent Group directly infringe the ’711 patent in violation of 35 

U.S.C. § 271(a) with the ’711 Quectel Devices.   

154. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’711 patent requires operation of the 

’711 Quectel Devices for infringement, the Quectel Respondent Group has 

indirectly infringed and continues to indirectly infringe the asserted claims, 

literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, by actively inducing its users in 

the United States to use the ’711 Quectel Devices in a manner that directly 

infringes the claims of the ’711 patent.  The Quectel Respondent Group has had 

knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that the Quectel Accused Products infringe 

the Asserted Patents by at least December 29, 2015 and later, prior to the filing of 

this Complaint, by letters and other communications from Philips.  With 

knowledge and intent, the Quectel Respondent Group is encouraging and 

facilitating infringing use of the Quectel Accused Products by users of the Quectel 

Accused Products in the United States.  This includes the Quectel Respondent 

Group taking active steps to encourage and facilitate others’ direct infringement 

of the ’711 patent with knowledge of that infringement.  The affirmative acts 

include, without limitation, advertising, marketing, promoting, offering for sale 

and/or selling the above-identified devices, with software that includes infringing 
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functionality, to consumers, customers, distributors, partners, resellers, and/or end 

users.  The Quectel Respondent Group further provides instructions, user 

manuals, advertising and/or marketing materials on its website that facilitate, 

direct, or encourage the direct infringement in the United States of the claims of 

the ’711 patent by others with knowledge thereof. 

155. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’711 patent requires operation of the 

’711 Quectel Devices for infringement, the Quectel Respondent Group also has 

contributed to the infringement of, and continues to contribute to the infringement 

of the Asserted Claims of the ’711 patent in the United States, literally and/or 

under the doctrine of equivalents, by selling, offering to sell, and/or importing 

within or into the United States the Accused Products that practice the Asserted 

Claims when put into operation.  The Quectel Respondent Group has had 

knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that the Quectel Accused Products infringe 

the Asserted Patents by at least December 29, 2015 and later, prior to the filing of 

this Complaint, by letters and other communications from Philips.  The hardware 

and software of the ’711 Quectel Devices constitutes a material part of the 

invention, is known by the Quectel Respondent Group to be especially made or 

adapted for use in infringing the ’711 patent, and is not a staple article or 

commodity of commerce that is suitable for substantial non-infringing use. 

5. Infringement of the ’271 Patent (Quectel Respondent Group) 

156. Exhibit 8 includes a chart comparing claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of the ’271 

patent to Quectel devices cellular communication modules models EG25-G, 

EG91, EG91-xx, AG35, AG550Q, EC20, EC21, EC25, EG06, EG12, EG18, 

EG21-G, EG25-G, EG91, EG95, EM05, EM06, EM12, EP06, SC20, SC200R, 
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SC600T, SC600Y, SC66, UC15, UC20, UC200T, UG96, and the like, and IoT 

products incorporating the cellular communication modules including Quectel’s 

customers Xirgo model XT6264 and Laird model Sentrius RG1xx, and the like 

(the “’271 Quectel Devices”).  This exhibit shows that the ’271 Quectel Devices 

are covered by at least claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of the ’271 patent.   

157. As shown in Exhibit 8, the Quectel Respondent Group directly infringes claims 1, 

2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of the ’271 patent by making, using, selling, offering for sale 

and importing into the United States the ’271 Quectel Devices. 

158. The Quectel Respondent Group directly infringe the ’271 patent in violation of 35 

U.S.C. § 271(a) with the ’271 Quectel Devices.   

159. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’271 patent requires operation of the 

’271 Quectel Devices for infringement, the Quectel Respondent Group has 

indirectly infringed and continues to indirectly infringe the asserted claims, 

literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, by actively inducing its users in 

the United States to use the ’271 Quectel Devices in a manner that directly 

infringes the claims of the ’271 patent.  The Quectel Respondent Group has had 

knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that the Quectel Accused Products infringe 

the Asserted Patents by at least December 29, 2015 and later, prior to the filing of 

this Complaint, by letters and other communications from Philips.  With 

knowledge and intent, the Quectel Respondent Group is encouraging and 

facilitating infringing use of the Quectel Accused Products by users of the Quectel 

Accused Products in the United States.  This includes the Quectel Respondent 

Group taking active steps to encourage and facilitate others’ direct infringement 
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of the ’271 patent with knowledge of that infringement.  The affirmative acts 

include, without limitation, advertising, marketing, promoting, offering for sale 

and/or selling the above-identified devices, with software that includes infringing 

functionality, to consumers, customers, distributors, partners, resellers, and/or end 

users.  The Quectel Respondent Group further provides instructions, user 

manuals, advertising and/or marketing materials on its website that facilitate, 

direct, or encourage the direct infringement in the United States of the claims of 

the ’271 patent by others with knowledge thereof. 

160. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’271 patent requires operation of the 

’271 Quectel Devices for infringement, the Quectel Respondent Group also has 

contributed to the infringement of, and continues to contribute to the infringement 

of the Asserted Claims of the ’271 patent in the United States, literally and/or 

under the doctrine of equivalents, by selling, offering to sell, and/or importing 

within or into the United States the Accused Products that practice the Asserted 

Claims when put into operation.  The Quectel Respondent Group has had 

knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that the Quectel Accused Products infringe 

the Asserted Patents by at least December 29, 2015 and later, prior to the filing of 

this Complaint, by letters and other communications from Philips.  The hardware 

and software of the ’271 Quectel Devices constitutes a material part of the 

invention, is known by the Quectel Respondent Group to be especially made or 

adapted for use in infringing the ’271 patent, and is not a staple article or 

commodity of commerce that is suitable for substantial non-infringing use. 
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6. Specific Instances of Importation into the United States, Sale for 
Importation, or Sale within the United States after Importation (Quectel 
Respondent Group) 

161. The Quectel Respondent Group is engaged in importation, use, and sales and 

marketing related to the Accused Products.  The exemplary Quectel Accused 

Products were manufactured by the Quectel Respondent Group or by third parties 

in factories located outside of the United States.  The exemplary Quectel Accused 

Products were also imported into the United States, sold for importation into the 

United States, and/or sold after importation in the United States after importation 

in the United States by the Quectel Respondent Group.  See Ex. 29.  For example, 

the Quectel EG25-G is part of the Xirgo XT6264, and the Xirgo XT6264 

indicates that it has a “Country of origin” that is a location outside the United 

States.  See Ex. 9 at 4.  Furthermore, testing documents from the FCC indicate 

that Quectel is the manufacturer of the EG25-G and that its manufacturer location 

is outside the United States.  See id. at 8.  The Quectel EG25-G was purchased in 

the United States.  See id. at 1, 7.  Similarly, testing documents from the FCC 

indicate that Quectel is the manufacturer of the Quectel EG91-NA, that its 

manufacturer location is outside the United States, and that the EG91-NA was 

purchased in the United States.  See id. at 9-10. 

H. CalAmp 

1. Representative Involved Articles (CalAmp) 

162. CalAmp individually, and in concert with the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Respondent Group, the Telit Respondent Group and the Quectel Respondent 

Group, designs, develops, manufactures, imports into the United States, sells for 

importation into the United States, sells after importation into the United States, 
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uses after importation into the United States the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Accused Products, the Telit Accused Products and the Quectel Accused Products 

that infringe literally, by equivalence, directly, and/or indirectly, claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 

9, 10, 11, 12 and 17 of the ’935 patent, claims 12 and 15 of the ’943 patent, 

claims 9 and 12 of the ’711 patent, and claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of the ’271 

patent.  

163. CalAmp individually, and in concert with the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Respondent Group, the Telit Respondent Group and the Quectel Respondent 

Group, directly infringe the ’935, ’943, ’711 and ’271 patents in violation of 35 

U.S.C. § 271(a) with Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products, the Telit 

Accused Products and the Quectel Accused Products. 

164. CalAmp individually, and in concert with the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Respondent Group, the Telit Respondent Group and the Quectel Respondent 

Group, is also knowingly and intentionally inducing infringement of the ’935, 

’943, ’711 and ’271 patents in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(b) and contributing to 

infringement of the ’935, ’943, ’711 and ’271 patents in violation of 35 U.S.C. 

§ 271(c), because CalAmp individually, and in concert with the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group, the Telit Respondent Group and the 

Quectel Respondent Group, is aiding and abetting the direct infringement of 

Quectel, Telit, Thales and/or their users in the United States through the 

importing, selling and using of Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products, the 

Telit Accused Products and the Quectel Accused Products with knowledge of the 

Asserted Patents, and because the products being imported and/or sold by 
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CalAmp individually, and in concert with the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Respondent Group, the Telit Respondent Group and the Quectel Respondent 

Group, have no substantial non-infringing use and are at least a material part of 

the inventions claims in the Asserted Patents. 

2. Infringement of the ’935 Patent (CalAmp) 

165. Exhibits 5, 10, and 15 include charts comparing claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 

17 of the ’935 patent to the “’935 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices,” the “’935 

Telit Devices,” and the “’935 Quectel Devices,” respectfully.  These exhibits 

show that the ’935 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices, the ’935 Telit Devices, 

and the ’935 Quectel Devices, and the imported into the United States, sold for 

importation into the United States, and/or sold after importation into the United 

States by CalAmp are covered by at least claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 17 of 

the ’935 patent. 

166. As shown in Exhibits 5-8, 10-13 and 15-18, CalAmp directly infringes claims 1, 

2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 17 of the ’935 patent by making, using, selling, offering 

for sale and/or importing into the United States the ’935 Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices, the ’935 Telit Devices, and the ’935 Quectel 

Devices. 

167. CalAmp at least acts individually and in concert with Thales, Telit, Quectel and 

their customers to infringe the claims of the ’935 patent.  Thales’, Telit’s and 

Quectel’s customers use the accused devices.   

168. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’935 patent requires operation of the 

’935 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices, the ’935 Telit Devices, or the ’935 

Quectel Devices for infringement, CalAmp has induced infringement and 
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continues to induce infringement of the asserted claims, literally and/or under the 

doctrine of equivalents, by collaborating with Thales, Telit and Quectel to import 

’935 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices, the ’935 Telit Devices, and the ’935 

Quectel Devices and induce users in the United States to use ’935 Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices, the ’935 Telit Devices, and the ’935 Quectel 

Devices in a manner that directly infringes the claims of the ’935 patent.  CalAmp 

has had knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Accused Products, the Telit Accused Products and the Quectel Accused Products 

infringe the Asserted Patents by at least October 19, 2020 and later, prior to the 

filing of this Complaint, by letters and other communications from Philips.  With 

knowledge and intent, CalAmp is encouraging and facilitating the importation and 

sale in the United States of Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products, the 

Telit Accused Products and the Quectel Accused Products, and encouraging the 

operation of Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products, the Telit Accused 

Products and the Quectel Accused Products in the United States in a manner that 

infringes claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 17 of the ’935 patent. 

169. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’935 patent requires operation of ’935 

Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices, the ’935 Telit Devices, and the ’935 Quectel 

Devices for infringement, CalAmp also has contributed to the infringement of, 

and continues to contribute to the infringement of the Asserted Claims of the ’935 

patent in the United States, literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, by 

selling, offering to sell, and/or importing within or into the United States the 

Accused Products that practice the Asserted Claims when put into operation.  
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CalAmp has had knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products, the Telit Accused Products and the 

Quectel Accused Products infringe the Asserted Patents by at least October 19, 

2020 and later, prior to the filing of this Complaint, by letters and other 

communications from Philips.  The hardware and software of the ’935 Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices, the ’935 Telit Devices, and the ’935 Quectel 

Devices constitutes a material part of the invention, is known by CalAmp to be 

especially made or adapted for use in infringing the ’935 patent, and is not a 

staple article or commodity of commerce that is suitable for substantial non-

infringing use. 

3. Infringement of the ’943 Patent (CalAmp) 

170. Exhibits 6, 11, and 16 include charts comparing claims 12 and 15 of the ’943 

patent to “’943 Thales (Gemalto Cinterion) Devices,” “’943 Telit Devices,” and 

“’943 Quectel Devices,” respectfully.  These exhibits show that the ’943 Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices, the ’943 Telit Devices, and the ’943 Quectel 

Devices imported into the United States, sold for importation into the United 

States, and/or sold after importation into the United States by CalAmp are 

covered by at least claims 12 and 15 of the ’943 patent. 

171. As shown in Exhibits 6, 11, and 16, CalAmp directly infringes claims 12 and 15 

of the ’943 patent by making, using, selling, offering for sale and/or importing 

into the United States the ‘943 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices, the ’943 Telit 

Devices, and the ’943 Quectel Devices. 
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172. CalAmp at least acts individually and in concert with Thales, Telit, Quectel and 

their customers to infringe the claims of the ’943 patent.  Thales’, Telit’s and 

Quectel’s customers use the accused devices.   

173. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’943 patent requires operation of the 

’943 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices, ’943 Telit Devices or ’943 Quectel 

Devices for infringement, CalAmp has induced infringement and continues to 

induce infringement of the asserted claims, literally and/or under the doctrine of 

equivalents, by collaborating with Thales, Telit and Quectel to import the ’943 

Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices, ’943 Telit Devices and ’943 Quectel  

Devices and induce users in the United States to use the ’943 Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices, ’943 Telit Devices and ’943 Quectel Devices 

Devices in a manner that directly infringes the claims of the ’943 patent.  CalAmp 

has had knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Accused Products, the Telit Accused Products and the Quectel Accused Products 

infringe the Asserted Patents by at least October 19, 2020 and later, prior to filing 

of this Complaint, by letters and other communications from Philips.  With 

knowledge and intent, CalAmp is encouraging and facilitating the importation and 

sale in the United States of Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products, the 

Telit Accused Products and the Quectel Accused Products, and encouraging the 

operation of Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products, the Telit Accused 

Products and the Quectel Accused Products in the United States in a manner that 

infringes claims 12 and 15 of the ’943 patent. 
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174. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’943 patent requires operation of the 

’943 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices, ’943 Telit Devices and ’943 Quectel 

Devices for infringement, CalAmp also has contributed to the infringement of, 

and continues to contribute to the infringement of the Asserted Claims of the ’943 

patent in the United States, literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, by 

selling, offering to sell, and/or importing within or into the United States the 

Accused Products that practice the Asserted Claims when put into operation.  

CalAmp has had knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products, the Telit Accused Products and the 

Quectel Accused Products infringe the Asserted Patents by at least October 19, 

2020 and later, prior to the filing of this Complaint, by letters and other 

communications from Philips.  The hardware and software of the ’943 Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices, ’943 Telit Devices and ’943 Quectel Devices 

constitutes a material part of the invention, is known by CalAmp to be especially 

made or adapted for use in infringing the ’943 patent, and is not a staple article or 

commodity of commerce that is suitable for substantial non-infringing use. 

4. Infringement of the ’711 Patent (CalAmp) 

175. Exhibit 7, 12 and 17 include charts comparing claims 9 and 12 of the ’711 patent 

to “’711 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices,” “’711 Telit Devices,” and “711 

Quectel Devices,” respectfully.  These exhibits show that the ’711 Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices, the ’711 Telit Devices, and the ’711 Quectel 

Devices imported into the United States, sold for importation into the United 

States, and/or sold after importation into the United States by CalAmp are 

covered by at least claims 9 and 12 of the ’711 patent. 
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176. As shown in Exhibit 7, 12 and 17,  CalAmp directly infringes claims 9 and 12 of 

the ’711 patent by making, using, selling, offering for sale and/or importing into 

the United States the ’711 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices, the ’711 Telit 

Devices, and the ’711 Quectel Devices. 

177. CalAmp at least acts individually and in concert with Thales, Telit, Quectel and 

their customers to infringe the claims of the ’711 patent.  Thales’, Telit’s and 

Quectel’s customers use the accused devices.   

178. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’711 patent requires operation of the 

’711 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices, ’711 Telit Devices or ’711 Quectel 

Devices for infringement, CalAmp has induced infringement and continues to 

induce infringement of the asserted claims, literally and/or under the doctrine of 

equivalents, by collaborating with Thales, Telit and Quectel to import the ’711 

Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices, ’711 Telit Devices and ’711 Quectel 

Devices and induce users in the United States to use the ’711 Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices, ’711 Telit Devices and ’711 Quectel Devices in a 

manner that directly infringes the claims of the ’711 patent.  CalAmp has had 

knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused 

Products, the Telit Accused Products and the Quectel Accused Products infringe 

the Asserted Patents by at least October 19, 2020 and later, prior to the filing of 

this Complaint, by letters and other communications from Philips.  With 

knowledge and intent, CalAmp is encouraging and facilitating the importation and 

sale in the United States of Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products, the 

Telit Accused Products and the Quectel Accused Products, and encouraging the 
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operation of Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products, the Telit Accused 

Products and the Quectel Accused Products in the United States in a manner that 

infringes claims 9 and 12 of the ’711 patent. 

179. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’711 patent requires operation of the 

’711 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices, ’711 Telit Devices and ’711 Quectel 

Devices for infringement, CalAmp also has contributed to the infringement of, 

and continues to contribute to the infringement of the Asserted Claims of the ’711 

patent in the United States, literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, by 

selling, offering to sell, and/or importing within or into the United States the 

Accused Products that practice the Asserted Claims when put into operation.  

CalAmp has had knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products, the Telit Accused Products and the 

Quectel Accused Products infringe the Asserted Patents by at least October 19, 

2020, and later, prior to the filing of this Complaint, by letters and other 

communications from Philips.  The hardware and software of the ’711 Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices, ’711 Telit Devices and ’711 Quectel Devices 

constitutes a material part of the invention, is known by CalAmp to be especially 

made or adapted for use in infringing the ’711 patent, and is not a staple article or 

commodity of commerce that is suitable for substantial non-infringing use. 

5. Infringement of the ’271 Patent (CalAmp) 

180. Exhibits 8, 13, and 18 include charts comparing claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of 

the ’271 patent to “’271 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices,” “’271 Telit 

Devices,” and “’271 Quectel Devices,” respectfully.  These exhibits show that the 

’271 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices, the ’271 Telit Devices, and the ’271 
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Quectel Devices imported into the United States, sold for importation into the 

United States, and/or sold after importation into the United States by CalAmp are 

covered by at least claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of the ’271 patent. 

181. As shown in Exhibit 8, 13, and 18, CalAmp directly infringes claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 

6, 7 and 8 of the ’271 patent by making, using, selling, offering for sale and/or 

importing into the United States the ’271 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices, the 

’271 Telit Devices, and the ’271 Quectel Devices. 

182. CalAmp at least acts individually and in concert with Thales, Telit, Quectel and 

their customers to infringe the claims of the ’271 patent.  Thales’, Telit’s and 

Quectel’s customers use the accused devices.   

183. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’271 patent requires operation of the 

’271 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices, ’271 Telit Devices or ’271 Quectel 

Devices for infringement, CalAmp has induced infringement and continues to 

induce infringement of the asserted claims, literally and/or under the doctrine of 

equivalents, by collaborating with Thales, Telit and Quectel to import the ’271 

Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices, ’271 Telit Devices and ’271 Quectel 

Devices and induce users in the United States to use the ’271 Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices, ’271 Telit Devices and ’271 Quectel Devices in a 

manner that directly infringes the claims of the ’271 patent.  CalAmp has had 

knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused 

Products, the Telit Accused Products and the Quectel Accused Products infringe 

the Asserted Patents by at least October 19, 2020 and later, prior to the filing of 

this Complaint, by letters and other communications from Philips.  With 
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knowledge and intent, CalAmp is encouraging and facilitating the importation and 

sale in the United States of Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products, the 

Telit Accused Products and the Quectel Accused Products, and encouraging the 

operation of Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products, the Telit Accused 

Products and the Quectel Accused Products in the United States in a manner that 

infringes claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of the ’271 patent. 

184. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’271 patent requires operation of the 

’271 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices, ’271 Telit Devices and ’271 Quectel 

Devices for infringement, CalAmp also has contributed to the infringement of, 

and continues to contribute to the infringement of the Asserted Claims of the ’271 

patent in the United States, literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, by 

selling, offering to sell, and/or importing within or into the United States the 

Accused Products that practice the Asserted Claims when put into operation.  

CalAmp has had knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products, the Telit Accused Products and the 

Quectel Accused Products infringe the Asserted Patents by at least October 19, 

2020 and later, prior to the filing of this Complaint, by letters and other 

communications from Philips.  The hardware and software of the ’271 Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices, ’271 Telit Devices and ’271 Quectel Devices 

constitutes a material part of the invention, is known by CalAmp to be especially 

made or adapted for use in infringing the ’271 patent, and is not a staple article or 

commodity of commerce that is suitable for substantial non-infringing use. 
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6. Specific Instances of Importation into the United States, Sale for 
Importation, or Sale within the United States after Importation (CalAmp) 

185. CalAmp is engaged in importation, use, and sales and marketing related to the 

Accused Products.  The exemplary Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products, 

exemplary Telit Accused Products and exemplary Quectel Accused Products were 

manufactured by the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group, the Telit 

Respondent Group and the Quectel Respondent Group or by third parties in 

factories located outside of the United States.  Exemplary Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Products, exemplary Telit Accused Products and exemplary 

Quectel Accused Products were also imported into the United States, sold for 

importation into the United States, and/or sold after importation in the United 

States after importation in the United States by CalAmp.  See Ex. 9.  For example, 

the CalAmp HMU-3640LA and CalAmp LMU-3640LAB products indicate that 

they were “Assembled in” locations outside the United States.  See id. at 5-6.  The 

Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) ELS61-US and Telit LE910-NA-1, which are found 

in those CalAmp products, similarly indicate that they were “Made in” locations 

outside the United States.  See id.  The CalAmp HMU-3640LA and LMU-

3640LAB products were purchased in the United States.  See id. at 14, 16. 

I. Xirgo 

1. Representative Involved Articles (Xirgo) 

186. Xirgo individually, and in concert with the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Respondent Group and the Quectel Respondent Group, etc., designs, develops, 

manufactures, imports into the United States, sells for importation into the United 

States, sells after importation into the United States, uses after importation into 
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the United States the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and Quectel 

Accused Products, etc. that infringe literally, by equivalence, directly, and/or 

indirectly, claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 17 of the ’935 patent, claims 12 and 

15 of the ’943 patent, claims 9 and 12 of the ’711 patent, and claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 

6, 7 and 8 of the ’271 patent. Additional infringements will become apparent 

through discovery. 

187. Xirgo individually, and in concert with the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Respondent Group and the Quectel Respondent Group, etc., directly infringe the 

’935, ’943, ’711 and ’271 patents in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a) with the 

Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and Quectel Accused Products, etc. 

188. Xirgo individually, and in concert with the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Respondent Group and the Quectel Respondent Group, etc., is also knowingly and 

intentionally inducing infringement of the ’935, ’943, ’711 and ’271 patents in 

violation of 35 U.S. C. § 271(b) and contributing to infringement of the ’935, 

’943, ’711 and ’271 patents in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(c), because Xirgo 

individually, and in concert with the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent 

Group and the Quectel Respondent Group, etc., is aiding and abetting the direct 

infringement of Thales, Quectel, etc. and/or their users in the United States 

through the importing, selling and using of the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Accused Products and Quectel Accused Products, etc. with knowledge of the 

Asserted Patents, and because the products being imported and/or sold by Xirgo 

individually, and in concert with the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent 

Group and the Quectel Respondent Group, etc., have no substantial non-
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infringing use and are at least a material part of the inventions claims in the 

Asserted Patents. 

2. Infringement of the ’935 Patent (Xirgo) 

189. Exhibits 5, 10 and 13 include charts comparing claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 

17 of the ’935 patent to the “’935 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices” and the 

“’935 Quectel Devices,” respectfully.  These exhibits show that the ’935 Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and the ’935 Quectel Devices imported into the 

United States, sold for importation into the United States, and/or sold after 

importation into the United States by Xirgo are covered by at least claims 1, 2, 3, 

4, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 17 of the ’935 patent. 

190. As shown in Exhibits 5, 10 and 13, Xirgo directly infringes claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 

10, 11, 12 and 17 of the ’935 patent by making, using, selling, offering for sale 

and/or importing into the United States the ’935 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Devices and the ’935 Quectel Devices. 

191. Xirgo at least acts individually and in concert with Thales, Quectel and their 

customers to infringe the claims of the ’935 patent.  Thales’ and Quectel’s 

customers use the accused devices.   

192. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’935 patent requires operation of the 

’935 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices or ’935 Quectel Devices for 

infringement, Xirgo has induced infringement and continues to induce 

infringement of the asserted claims, literally and/or under the doctrine of 

equivalents, by collaborating with Thales and Quectel to import the ’935 Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’935 Quectel Devices and induce users in the 

United States to use the ’935 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’935 
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Quectel Devices in a manner that directly infringes the claims of the ’935 patent.  

Xirgo has had knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and Quectel Accused Products infringe the 

Asserted Patents by at least October 19, 2020, and later, prior to the filing of this 

Complaint, by letters and other communications from Philips.  With knowledge 

and intent, Xirgo is encouraging and facilitating the importation and sale in the 

United States of the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and Quectel 

Accused Products, and encouraging the operation of the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and Quectel Accused Products in the 

United States in a manner that infringes claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 17 of 

the ’935 patent. 

193. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’935 patent requires operation of the 

’935 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’935 Quectel Devices for 

infringement, Xirgo also has contributed to the infringement of, and continues to 

contribute to the infringement of the Asserted Claims of the ’935 patent in the 

United States, literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, by selling, 

offering to sell, and/or importing within or into the United States the Accused 

Products that practice the Asserted Claims when put into operation.  Xirgo has 

had knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Accused Products and Quectel Accused Products infringe the Asserted Patents by 

at least October 19, 2020, and later, prior to the filing of this Complaint, by letters 

and other communications from Philips.  The hardware and software of the ’935 

Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’935 Quectel Devices constitutes a 
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material part of the invention, is known by Xirgo to be especially made or adapted 

for use in infringing the ’935 patent, and is not a staple article or commodity of 

commerce that is suitable for substantial non-infringing use. 

3. Infringement of the ’943 Patent (Xirgo) 

194. Exhibits 6, 13 and 16 include charts comparing claims 12 and 15 of the ’943 

patent the ’943 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and the ’943 Quectel 

Devices.  These exhibits show that the ’943 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices 

and the ’943 Quectel Devices imported into the United States, sold for 

importation into the United States, and/or sold after importation into the United 

States by Xirgo are covered by at least claims 12 and 15 of the ’943 patent. 

195. As shown in Exhibits 6, 13 and 16, Xirgo directly infringes claims 12 and 15 of 

the ’943 patent by making, using, selling, offering for sale and/or importing into 

the United States the ’943 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and the ’943 

Quectel Devices. 

196. Xirgo at least acts individually and in concert with Thales, Quectel and their 

customers to infringe the claims of the ’943 patent.  Thales’ and Quectel’s 

customers use the accused devices.   

197. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’943 patent requires operation of the 

’943 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices or ’943 Quectel Devices for 

infringement, Xirgo has induced infringement and continues to induce 

infringement of the asserted claims, literally and/or under the doctrine of 

equivalents, by collaborating with Thales and Quectel to import the ’943 Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’943 Quectel Devices and induce users in the 

United States to use the ’943 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’943 
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Quectel Devices in a manner that directly infringes the claims of the ’943 patent.  

Xirgo has had knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and Quectel Accused Products infringe the 

Asserted Patents by at least October 19, 2020, and later, prior to filing of this 

Complaint, by letters and other communications from Philips.  With knowledge 

and intent, Xirgo is encouraging and facilitating the importation and sale in the 

United States of the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and Quectel 

Accused Products, and encouraging the operation of the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and Quectel Accused Products in the 

United States in a manner that infringes claims 12 and 15 of the ’943 patent. 

198. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’943 patent requires operation of the 

’943 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’943 Quectel Devices for 

infringement, Xirgo also has contributed to the infringement of, and continues to 

contribute to the infringement of the Asserted Claims of the ’943 patent in the 

United States, literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, by selling, 

offering to sell, and/or importing within or into the United States the Accused 

Products that practice the Asserted Claims when put into operation.  Xirgo has 

had knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Accused Products and Quectel Accused Products infringe the Asserted Patents by 

at least October 19, 2020, and later, prior to filing of this Complaint, by letters 

and other communications from Philips.  The hardware and software of the ’943 

Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’943 Quectel Devices constitutes a 

material part of the invention, is known by Xirgo to be especially made or adapted 



 

81 
 

 

for use in infringing the ’943 patent, and is not a staple article or commodity of 

commerce that is suitable for substantial non-infringing use. 

4. Infringement of the ’711 Patent (Xirgo) 

199. Exhibits 7, 12 and 17 include charts comparing claims 9 and 12 of the ’711 patent 

the ’711 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and the’711 Quectel Devices.  

These exhibits show that the ’711 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and the 

’711 Quectel Devices imported into the United States, sold for importation into 

the United States, and/or sold after importation into the United States by Xirgo are 

covered by at least claims 9 and 12 of the ’711 patent. 

200. As shown in Exhibits 7, 12 and 17, Xirgo directly infringes claims 9 and 12 of the 

’711 patent by making, using, selling, offering for sale and/or importing into the 

United States the ’711 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and the ’711 Quectel 

Devices. 

201. Xirgo at least acts individually and in concert with Thales, Quectel and their 

customers to infringe the claims of the ’711 patent.  Thales’ and Quectel’s 

customers use the accused devices.   

202. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’711 patent requires operation of the 

’711 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices or ’711 Quectel Devices for 

infringement, Xirgo has induced infringement and continues to induce 

infringement of the asserted claims, literally and/or under the doctrine of 

equivalents, by collaborating with Thales and Quectel to import the ’711 Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’711 Quectel Devices and induce users in the 

United States to use the ’711 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’711 

Quectel Devices in a manner that directly infringes the claims of the ’711 patent.  
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Xirgo has had knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and Quectel Accused Products infringe the 

Asserted Patents by at least October 19, 2020, and later, prior to the filing of this 

Complaint, by letters and other communications from Philips.  With knowledge 

and intent, Xirgo is encouraging and facilitating the importation and sale in the 

United States of the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and Quectel 

Accused Products, and encouraging the operation of the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and Quectel Accused Products in the 

United States in a manner that infringes claims 9 and 12 of the ’711 patent. 

203. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’711 patent requires operation of the 

’711 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’711 Quectel Devices for 

infringement, Xirgo also has contributed to the infringement of, and continues to 

contribute to the infringement of the Asserted Claims of the ’711 patent in the 

United States, literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, by selling, 

offering to sell, and/or importing within or into the United States the Accused 

Products that practice the Asserted Claims when put into operation.  Xirgo has 

had knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Accused Products and Quectel Accused Products infringe the Asserted Patents by 

at least October 19, 2020, and later, prior to the filing of this Complaint, by letters 

and other communications from Philips.  The hardware and software of the ’711 

Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’711 Quectel Devices constitutes a 

material part of the invention, is known by Xirgo to be especially made or adapted 
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for use in infringing the ’711 patent, and is not a staple article or commodity of 

commerce that is suitable for substantial non-infringing use. 

5. Infringement of the ’271 Patent (Xirgo) 

204. Exhibits 8, 13 and 18 include charts comparing claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of 

the ’271 patent the ’271 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and the ’271 Quectel 

Devices.  These exhibits show that the ’271 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices 

and the ’271 Quectel Devices imported into the United States, sold for 

importation into the United States, and/or sold after importation into the United 

States by Xirgo are covered by at least claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of the ’271 

patent. 

205. As shown in Exhibits 8, 13 and 18, Xirgo directly infringes claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 

7 and 8 of the ’271 patent by making, using, selling, offering for sale and/or 

importing into the United States the ’271 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and 

the ’271 Quectel Devices. 

206. Xirgo at least acts individually and in concert with Thales, Quectel and their 

customers to infringe the claims of the ’271 patent.  Thales’ and Quectel’s 

customers use the accused devices.   

207. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’271 patent requires operation of the 

’271 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices or ’271 Quectel Devices for 

infringement, Xirgo has induced infringement and continues to induce 

infringement of the asserted claims, literally and/or under the doctrine of 

equivalents, by collaborating with Thales and Quectel to import the ’271 Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’271 Quectel Devices and induce users in the 

United States to use the ’271 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’271 
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Quectel Devices in a manner that directly infringes the claims of the ’271 patent.  

Xirgo has had knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and Quectel Accused Products infringe the 

Asserted Patents by at least October 19, 2020, and later, prior to the filing of this 

Complaint, by letters and other communications from Philips.  With knowledge 

and intent, Xirgo is encouraging and facilitating the importation and sale in the 

United States of the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and Quectel 

Accused Products, and encouraging the operation of the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and Quectel Accused Products in the 

United States in a manner that infringes claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of the ’271 

patent. 

208. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’271 patent requires operation of the 

’271 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’271 Quectel Devices for 

infringement, Xirgo also has contributed to the infringement of, and continues to 

contribute to the infringement of the Asserted Claims of the ’271 patent in the 

United States, literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, by selling, 

offering to sell, and/or importing within or into the United States the Accused 

Products that practice the Asserted Claims when put into operation.  Xirgo has 

had knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Accused Products and Quectel Accused Products infringe the Asserted Patents by 

at least October 19, 2020, and later, prior to the filing of this Complaint, by letters 

and other communications from Philips.  The hardware and software of the ’271 

Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’271 Quectel Devices constitutes a 
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material part of the invention, is known by Xirgo to be especially made or adapted 

for use in infringing the ’271 patent, and is not a staple article or commodity of 

commerce that is suitable for substantial non-infringing use. 

6. Specific Instances of Importation into the United States, Sale for 
Importation, or Sale within the United States after Importation (Xirgo) 

209. Xirgo is engaged in importation, use, and sales and marketing related to the 

Accused Products.  The exemplary Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products 

and exemplary Quectel Accused Products were manufactured by the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group, the Quectel Respondent Group or by 

third parties in factories located outside of the United States.  Exemplary Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and exemplary Quectel Accused Products 

were also imported into the United States, sold for importation into the United 

States, and/or sold after importation in the United States after importation in the 

United States by Xirgo  See Ex. 9.  For example, the Xirgo XT6264, which 

contains a Quectel EG25-G, indicates that its “Country of Origin” is a locations 

outside the United States.  See id. at 1.  FCC testing documents also indicate that 

the Quectel EG25-G was manufactured outside the United States by manufacturer 

Quectel with an address outside the United States.  See id. at 8.  For example, the 

Xirgo XT6264 was purchased in the United States.  See id. at 2, 7.   

J. Laird 

1. Representative Involved Articles (Laird) 

210. Laird individually, and in concert with the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Respondent Group and the Quectel Respondent Group, etc., designs, develops, 

manufactures, imports into the United States, sells for importation into the United 
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States, sells after importation into the United States, uses after importation into 

the United States the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and Quectel 

Accused Products, etc. that infringe literally, by equivalence, directly, and/or 

indirectly, claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 17 of the ’935 patent, claims 12 and 

15 of the ’943 patent, claims 9 and 12 of the ’711 patent, and claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 

6, 7 and 8 of the ’271 patent.  Additional infringements will become apparent 

through discovery. 

211. Laird individually, and in concert with the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Respondent Group and the Quectel Respondent Group, etc., directly infringe the 

’935, ’943, ’711 and ’271 patents in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a) with the 

Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and Quectel Accused Products, etc. 

212. Laird individually, and in concert with the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Respondent Group and the Quectel Respondent Group, etc., is also knowingly and 

intentionally inducing infringement of the ’935, ’943, ’711 and ’271 patents in 

violation of 35 U.S. C. § 271(b) and contributing to infringement of the ’935, 

’943, ’711 and ’271 patents in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(c), because Laird 

individually, and in concert with the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent 

Group and the Quectel Respondent Group, etc., is aiding and abetting the direct 

infringement of Quectel, Thales, etc. and/or their users in the United States 

through the importing, selling and using of the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Accused Products and Quectel Accused Products, etc. with knowledge of the 

Asserted Patents, and because the products being imported and/or sold by Laird 

individually, and in concert with the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent 
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Group and the Quectel Respondent Group, etc., have no substantial non-

infringing use and are at least a material part of the inventions claims in the 

Asserted Patents. 

2. Infringement of the ’935 Patent (Laird) 

213. Exhibits 5, 10 and 15 include charts comparing claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 

17 of the ’935 patent to the ’935 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and the ’935 

Quectel Devices.  These exhibits show that the ’935 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Devices and the ’935 Quectel Devices imported into the United States, sold for 

importation into the United States, and/or sold after importation into the United 

States by Laird are covered by at least claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 17 of the 

’935 patent. 

214. As shown in Exhibits 5, 10 and 15, Laird directly infringes claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 

11, 12 and 17 of the ’935 patent by making, using, selling, offering for sale and/or 

importing into the United States the ’935 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and 

the ’935 Quectel Devices. 

215. Laird at least acts individually and in concert with Thales, Quectel and their 

customers to infringe the claims of the ’935 patent.  Thales’ and Quectel’s 

customers use the accused devices.   

216. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’935 patent requires operation of the 

’935 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices or ’935 Quectel Devices for 

infringement, Laird has induced infringement and continues to induce 

infringement of the asserted claims, literally and/or under the doctrine of 

equivalents, by collaborating with Thales and Quectel to import the ’935 Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’935 Quectel Devices and induce users in the 
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United States to use the ’935 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’935 

Quectel Devices in a manner that directly infringes the claims of the ’935 patent.  

Laird has had knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and Quectel Accused Products infringe the 

Asserted Patents by at least November 12, 2020, and later, prior to the filing of 

this Complaint, by letters and other communications from Philips.  With 

knowledge and intent, Laird is encouraging and facilitating the importation and 

sale in the United States of the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and 

Quectel Accused Products, and encouraging the operation of the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and Quectel Accused Products in the 

United States in a manner that infringes claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 17 of 

the ’935 patent. 

217. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’935 patent requires operation of the 

’935 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’935 Quectel Devices for 

infringement, Laird also has contributed to the infringement of, and continues to 

contribute to the infringement of the Asserted Claims of the ’935 patent in the 

United States, literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, by selling, 

offering to sell, and/or importing within or into the United States the Accused 

Products that practice the Asserted Claims when put into operation.  Laird has had 

knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Accused Products and Quectel Accused Products infringe the Asserted Patents by 

at least November 12, 2020, and later, prior to the filing of this Complaint, by 

letters and other communications from Philips.  The hardware and software of the 
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’935 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’935 Quectel Devices constitutes a 

material part of the invention, is known by Laird to be especially made or adapted 

for use in infringing the ’935 patent, and is not a staple article or commodity of 

commerce that is suitable for substantial non-infringing use. 

3. Infringement of the ’943 Patent (Laird) 

218. Exhibits 6, 11 and 16 include charts comparing claims 12 and 15 of the ’943 

patent the ’943 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices the ’943 Quectel Devices.  

These exhibits show that the ’943 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices the ’943 

Quectel Devices imported into the United States, sold for importation into the 

United States, and/or sold after importation into the United States by Laird are 

covered by at least claims 12 and 15 of the ’943 patent. 

219. As shown in Exhibits 6, 11 and 16, Laird directly infringes claims 12 and 15 of 

the ’943 patent by making, using, selling, offering for sale and/or importing into 

the United States the ’943 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices the ’943 Quectel 

Devices. 

220. Laird at least acts individually and in concert with Thales, Quectel and their 

customers to infringe the claims of the ’943 patent.  Thales’ and Quectel’s 

customers use the accused devices.   

221. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’943 patent requires operation of the 

’943 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices or ’943 Quectel Devices for 

infringement, Laird has induced infringement and continues to induce 

infringement of the asserted claims, literally and/or under the doctrine of 

equivalents, by collaborating with Thales and Quectel to import the ’943 Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’943 Quectel Devices and induce users in the 
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United States to use the ’943 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’943 

Quectel Devices in a manner that directly infringes the claims of the ’943 patent.  

Laird has had knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and Quectel Accused Products infringe the 

Asserted Patents by at least November 12, 2020, and later, prior to filing of this 

Complaint, by letters and other communications from Philips.  With knowledge 

and intent, Laird is encouraging and facilitating the importation and sale in the 

United States of the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and Quectel 

Accused Products, and encouraging the operation of the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and Quectel Accused Products in the 

United States in a manner that infringes claims 12 and 15 of the ’943 patent. 

222. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’943 patent requires operation of the 

’943 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’943 Quectel Devices for 

infringement, Laird also has contributed to the infringement of, and continues to 

contribute to the infringement of the Asserted Claims of the ’943 patent in the 

United States, literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, by selling, 

offering to sell, and/or importing within or into the United States the Accused 

Products that practice the Asserted Claims when put into operation.  Laird has had 

knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Accused Products and Quectel Accused Products infringe the Asserted Patents by 

at least November 12, 2020, and later, prior to filing of this Complaint, by letters 

and other communications from Philips.  The hardware and software of the ’943 

Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’943 Quectel Devices constitutes a 
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material part of the invention, is known by Laird to be especially made or adapted 

for use in infringing the ’943 patent, and is not a staple article or commodity of 

commerce that is suitable for substantial non-infringing use. 

4. Infringement of the ’711 Patent (Laird) 

223. Exhibits 7, 12 and 17 include charts comparing claims 9 and 12 of the ’711 patent 

the ’711 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and the ’711 Quectel Devices.  

These exhibits show that the ’711 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and the 

’711 Quectel Devices imported into the United States, sold for importation into 

the United States, and/or sold after importation into the United States by Laird are 

covered by at least claims 9 and 12 of the ’711 patent. 

224. As shown in Exhibits 7, 12 and 17, Laird directly infringes claims 9 and 12 of the 

’711 patent by making, using, selling, offering for sale and/or importing into the 

United States the ’711 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and the ’711 Quectel 

Devices. 

225. Laird at least acts individually and in concert with Thales, Quectel and their 

customers to infringe the claims of the ’711 patent.  Thales’ and Quectel’s 

customers use the accused devices.   

226. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’711 patent requires operation of the 

’711 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices or ’711 Quectel Devices for 

infringement, Laird has induced infringement and continues to induce 

infringement of the asserted claims, literally and/or under the doctrine of 

equivalents, by collaborating with Thales and Quectel to import the ’711 Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’711 Quectel Devices and induce users in the 

United States to use the ’711 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’711 



 

92 
 

 

Quectel Devices in a manner that directly infringes the claims of the ’711 patent.  

Laird has had knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and Quectel Accused Products infringe the 

Asserted Patents by at least November 12, 2020, and later, prior to the filing of 

this Complaint, by letters and other communications from Philips.  With 

knowledge and intent, Laird is encouraging and facilitating the importation and 

sale in the United States of the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and 

Quectel Accused Products, and encouraging the operation of the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and Quectel Accused Products in the 

United States in a manner that infringes claims 9 and 12 of the ’711 patent. 

227. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’711 patent requires operation of the 

’711 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’711 Quectel Devices for 

infringement, Laird also has contributed to the infringement of, and continues to 

contribute to the infringement of the Asserted Claims of the ’711 patent in the 

United States, literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, by selling, 

offering to sell, and/or importing within or into the United States the Accused 

Products that practice the Asserted Claims when put into operation.  Laird has had 

knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Accused Products and Quectel Accused Products infringe the Asserted Patents by 

at least November 12, 2020, and later, prior to the filing of this Complaint, by 

letters and other communications from Philips.  The hardware and software of the 

’711 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’711 Quectel Devices constitutes a 

material part of the invention, is known by Laird to be especially made or adapted 
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for use in infringing the ’711 patent, and is not a staple article or commodity of 

commerce that is suitable for substantial non-infringing use. 

5. Infringement of the ’271 Patent (Laird) 

228. Exhibits 8, 13 and 18 include charts comparing claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of 

the ’271 patent the ’271 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and the ’271 Quectel 

Devices.  These exhibits show that the ’271 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices 

and the ’271 Quectel Devices imported into the United States, sold for 

importation into the United States, and/or sold after importation into the United 

States by Laird are covered by at least claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of the ’271 

patent. 

229. As shown in Exhibits 8, 13 and 18, Laird directly infringes claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 

7 and 8 of the ’271 patent by making, using, selling, offering for sale and/or 

importing into the United States the ’271 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and 

the ’271 Quectel Devices. 

230. Laird at least acts individually and in concert with Thales, Quectel and their 

customers to infringe the claims of the ’271 patent.  Thales’ and Quectel’s 

customers use the accused devices.   

231. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’271 patent requires operation of the 

’271 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices or ’271 Quectel Devices for 

infringement, Laird has induced infringement and continues to induce 

infringement of the asserted claims, literally and/or under the doctrine of 

equivalents, by collaborating with Thales and Quectel to import the ’271 Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’271 Quectel Devices and induce users in the 

United States to use the ’271 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’271 
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Quectel Devices in a manner that directly infringes the claims of the ’271 patent.  

Laird has had knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and Quectel Accused Products infringe the 

Asserted Patents by at least November 12, 2020, and later, prior to the filing of 

this Complaint, by letters and other communications from Philips.  With 

knowledge and intent, Laird is encouraging and facilitating the importation and 

sale in the United States of the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and 

Quectel Accused Products, and encouraging the operation of the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and Quectel Accused Products in the 

United States in a manner that infringes claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of the ’271 

patent. 

232. To the extent that any asserted claim of the ’271 patent requires operation of the 

’271 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’271 Quectel Devices for 

infringement, Laird also has contributed to the infringement of, and continues to 

contribute to the infringement of the Asserted Claims of the ’271 patent in the 

United States, literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, by selling, 

offering to sell, and/or importing within or into the United States the Accused 

Products that practice the Asserted Claims when put into operation.  Laird has had 

knowledge of the Asserted Patents and that the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Accused Products and Quectel Accused Products infringe the Asserted Patents by 

at least November 12, 2020, and later, prior to the filing of this Complaint, by 

letters and other communications from Philips.  The hardware and software of the 

’271 Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Devices and ’271 Quectel Devices constitutes a 
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material part of the invention, is known by Laird to be especially made or adapted 

for use in infringing the ’271 patent, and is not a staple article or commodity of 

commerce that is suitable for substantial non-infringing use. 

6. Specific Instances of Importation into the United States, Sale for 
Importation, or Sale within the United States after Importation (Laird) 

233. Laird is engaged in importation, use, and sales and marketing related to the 

Accused Products.  The exemplary Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products 

and exemplary Quectel Accused Products were manufactured by the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group, the Quectel Respondent Group or by 

third parties in factories located outside of the United States.  See Ex. 9 at 4.  For 

example, the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) PLS62-W, which is part of the Laird 

Sentrius IG60, indicates that is “Made in” a location outside the United States and 

was purchased in the United States.  See id. at 4, 12. 

234. Exemplary Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products and exemplary Quectel 

Accused Products were also imported into the United States, sold for importation 

into the United States, and/or sold after importation in the United States after 

importation in the United States by Laird.  For example, the Laird Sentrius IG60 

was purchased in the United States.  See id. at 4, 12. 

VIII. CLASSIFICATION OF INFRINGING PRODUCTS UNDER THE 
HARMONIZED TARIFF SCHEDULE 

235. The Accused Products are believed to fall within at least the following 

classifications of the Harmonized Tariff Schedule of the United States: 

8517.12.0050, 8517.12.0080, 8517.18.0050, 8517.62.0010, 8517.62.0090, and 

8517.70.0000.  These classifications are intended for illustration only and are not 

intended to be restrictive of the Accused Products. 
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IX. LICENSEES 

236. Attached as Confidential Exhibit 28C is a statement concerning persons and 

entities to which Philips has licensed one or more of the Asserted Patents.   

X. PHILIPS SATISFIES THE DOMESTIC INDUSTRY REQUIREMENT 

A. The Technical Prong of the Domestic Industry Requirement is Satisfied 

1. Practice of the ’935 Patent  

237. As shown in Exhibit 24C, each of the Philips DreamStation, Dreamstation2, 

SystemOne, DreamStation Go (DsGo) and related products, for example, have a 

microprocessor-based method of multiplexing data packets having different 

assigned priorities, comprising receiving data packets; operating a queue for each 

different priority of data packet; assembling a group of the data packets wherein a 

first portion of the group is populated with data packets selected from one or more 

of the queues according to a first rule and a second portion of the group is 

populated with data packets selected from one or more of the queues according to 

a second rule; and transmitting the group, wherein the size of the first and second 

portions is adapted according to the delay experienced by data in each queue 

relative to a delay criterion for the respective queue.  Philips DreamStation, 

Dreamstation2, SystemOne, DreamStation Go (DsGo) and related products 

practice each and every limitation of at least claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 17 

of the ’935 patent.  

2. Practice of the ’943 Patent 

238. As shown in Exhibit 25C, each of the Philips DreamStation, Dreamstation2, 

SystemOne, DreamStation Go (DsGo) and related products, for example, are a 

secondary station for use in a radio communication system having a data channel 
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for the transmission of data packets from a primary station to the secondary 

station and a plurality of control channels for signaling of control information 

relating to the data packets from the primary station to the secondary station, 

wherein means are provided for determining which of the control channels is 

allocated to the secondary station, the allocated control channel being changed 

according to a defined sequence known to both the primary station and the 

secondary station, and for monitoring the currently allocated control channel to 

determine information about packet transmissions, wherein the defined sequence 

is configured to reduce probability of an allocation collision to 1/N, where N is a 

total number of the control channels. Philips DreamStation, Dreamstation2, 

SystemOne, DreamStation Go (DsGo) and related products practice each and 

every limitation of at least claims 12 and 15 of the ’943 patent. 

3. Practice of the ’711 Patent 

239. As shown in Exhibit 26C, each of the Philips DreamStation, Dreamstation2, 

SystemOne, DreamStation Go (DsGo) and related products, for example, are 

secondary stations for use in a radio communication system having a data channel 

for the transmission of data packets from a primary station to the secondary 

station and a plurality of control channels for signaling of control information 

relating to the data packets from the primary station to the secondary station, 

wherein means are provided for determining which of the control channels is 

allocated to the secondary station wherein the control channels are allocated for a 

plurality of secondary stations according to a plurality of respective defined 

sequences, all of which are different, the allocated control channel being changed 

according to a respective defined sequence, and for monitoring the currently 
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allocated control channel to determine information about packet transmissions.  

Philips DreamStation, Dreamstation2, SystemOne, DreamStation Go (DsGo) and 

related products practice each and every limitation of at least claims 9 and 12 of 

the ’711 patent. 

4. Practice of the ’271 Patent 

240. As shown in Exhibits 27C, each of the Philips DreamStation, Dreamstation2, 

SystemOne, DreamStation Go (DsGo) and related products, for example, perform 

a method of operating a communication station (MS) adapted to transmit a 

plurality of signals simultaneously at respective power levels, the method 

comprising: transmitting one or more first signals (DPCCH, DPDCH)  

simultaneously at a specified maximum combined transmit power level (P max); 

wherein, in response to a received signal, reducing the transmit power of the one 

or more first signals (DPCCH, DPDCH) and transmitting simultaneously with the 

one or more first signals (DPCCH, DPDCH) an additional one of a second signal 

(ACK or NACK) at a respective second specified power level (PA or PN) and a 

third signal (NACK or ACK) at a respective third specified power level (PN or 

PA), wherein the second specified power  level (PA or PN) exceeds the third 

specified power level  (PN or PA); wherein the reduction in transmit power of the 

one or more first signals (DPCCH, DPDCH) corresponds to the second specified 

power level (PA or PN) irrespective of whether the additional signal is the second 

signal (ACK or NACK) or the third signal (NACK or ACK), such that when the 

additional signal is the third signal (NACK or ACK) the combined transmit power 

level is less than the specified maximum combined transmit power level (P max).  

Philips DreamStation, Dreamstation2, SystemOne, DreamStation Go (DsGo) and 
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related products practice each and every limitation of at least claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 

6, 7 and 8 of the ’271 patent. 

B. Philips Economic Investment in the Domestic Industry  

241. There is a domestic industry that exists, and/or is in the process of being 

established, in the United States as defined under 19 U.S.C. § 1337(a)(3)(A), (B), 

and/or (C), comprising continuing significant investments made by Philips in the 

United States in plant and equipment, significant employment of labor and 

capital, and continuing substantial investment in exploitation of the ’935, ’943, 

’711, and ’271 patents. 

242. Philips engages in a broad range of qualifying domestic industry activities in the 

United States directed to articles protected by the ’935, ’943, ’711, and ’271 

patents as described above.  Confidential Exhibits 29C, 30C and 31C contain 

detailed information regarding Philips ongoing, significant, and substantial 

investments in the domestic industry. 

243. In particular, the Philips Sleep business unit made and continues to make 

significant investments in plant and equipment directed to the Domestic Industry 

Products in the United States.  Those investments in plant and equipment are 

dedicated to research, design, development, engineering, manufacturing, product 

support, manufacturing support, testing, and various customer support activities 

focused on the Domestic Industry Products, which practice the ’935, ’943, ’711, 

and ’271 patents. 

244. Philips Sleep business unit also made and continues to make significant 

investments in labor and capital directed to the Domestic Industry Products in the 

United States.  Those investments in labor and capital are dedicated to research, 
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design, development, engineering, manufacturing, product support, manufacturing 

support, testing, and various customer support activities focused on the Domestic 

Industry Products, which practice the ’935, ’943, ’711, and ’271 patents.  

245. The Philips Sleep business unit also engages in exploitation of the ’935, ’943, 

’711, and ’271 patents through its substantial domestic investments in engineering 

and research and development activities in the United States.  These activities 

include, among other things, research and development and engineering and 

design tied to the claimed technology implemented in the ’935, ’943, ’711, and 

’271 patents.  These activities have occurred in the past and are ongoing with 

respect to prior and current versions of the Domestic Industry Products as well as 

future versions of Philips products under development. 

246. The Domestic Industry products that practice the ’935 Patent include the Philips 

DreamStation product models, DreamStation2 product models, SystemOne 

product models, DreamStation Go (DsGo) models, including related products 

such as Care Orchestrator, Encore, and DreamMapper.  The investments Philips 

has made in the aforementioned DreamStation, DreamStation2, SystemOne, 

DreamStation Go (DsGo) and related products such as Care Orchestrator, Encore, 

and DreamMapper are detailed in Confidential Exhibits 29C-31C. 

247. In addition, with respect to the DreamStation2, the DreamStationGo (DsGo) and 

related products, Philips Sleep has taken concrete steps in the form of significant 

investments in plant and equipment, labor and capital, and research and 

development to establish a domestic industry in products that practice the ’935 
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patent, and there is a significant likelihood that this industry will be established in 

the near future, as detailed in Confidential Exhibits 29C-31C. 

248. The Domestic Industry products that practice the ’943 Patent include the Philips 

DreamStation product models, DreamStation2 product models, SystemOne product 

models, DreamStation Go (DsGo) product models, and related products such as 

Care Orchestrator, Encore, and DreamMapper. The investments Philips has made 

in the aforementioned DreamStation, DreamStation2, SystemOne, DreamStation 

Go (DsGo), and related products such as Care Orchestrator, Encore, and 

DreamMapper are detailed in Confidential Exhibits 29C-31C. 

249. In addition, with respect to the DreamStation2, the DreamStation Go (DsGo) and 

related products, Philips Sleep has taken concrete steps in the form of significant 

investments in plant and equipment, labor and capital, and research and 

development to establish a domestic industry in products that practice the ’943 

patent, and there is a significant likelihood that this industry will be established in 

the near future, as detailed in Confidential Exhibits 29C-31C. 

250. The Domestic Industry Products that practice the ’711 patent are the Philips 

DreamStation product models, DreamStation2 product models, SystemOne 

product models, DreamStation Go (DsGo) product models, including related 

products such as Care Orchestrator, Encore, and DreamMapper.  The investments 

Philips has made in the aforementioned DreamStation, DreamStation2, 

SystemOne, DreamStation Go (DsGo) and related products such as Care 

Orchestrator, Encore, and DreamMapper are detailed in Confidential Exhibits 

29C-31C. 
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251. In addition, with respect to the DreamStation2, DreamStation Go (DsGo) and 

related products, Philips Sleep has taken concrete steps in the form of significant 

investments in plant and equipment, labor and capital, and research and 

development to establish a domestic industry in products that practice the ’711 

patent, and there is a significant likelihood that this industry will be established in 

the near future, as detailed in Confidential Exhibits 29C-31C. 

252. The Domestic Industry Products that practice the ’271 patent are also the Philips 

DreamStation product models, DreamStation2 product models, SystemOne 

product models, DreamStation Go (DsGo) product models including related 

products such as Care Orchestrator, Encore, and DreamMapper.  The investments 

Philips has made in the aforementioned DreamStation, DreamStation2, 

SystemOne, DreamStation Go (DsGo) and related products such as Care 

Orchestrator, Encore, and DreamMapper are detailed in Confidential Exhibits 

29C-31C. 

253. In addition, with respect to the DreamStation2, DreamStation Go (DsGo) and 

related products, Philips Sleep has taken concrete steps in the form of significant 

investments in plant and equipment, labor and capital, and research and 

development to establish a domestic industry in products that practice the ’271 

patent, and there is a significant likelihood that this industry will be established in 

the near future, as detailed in Confidential Exhibits 29C-31C. 

254. As to each of the aforementioned products, the domestic investments and 

activities of Philips Sleep are significant and substantial quantitative and 

qualitative terms both as to the business unit and the domestic industry as a 
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whole. The domestic investments and activities are important to the Domestic 

Industry Products and represent significant added value.  See Confidential 

Exhibits 29C-31C.  

XI. RELATED LITIGATIONS 

255. To Philips’ knowledge, the Asserted Patents are the subject of the following court 

litigations in the United States: 

i. As to the Quectel Respondent Group, Koninklijke Philips N.V. v. Quectel 

Wireless Solutions Co., Ltd., CalAmp Corp., Xirgo Technologies, LLC, 

Laird Connectivity, Inc., No. 20-cv-____ (D. Del.) filed on ____, 2020. ii. As to the Telit Respondent Group, Koninklijke Philips N.V. v. Telit 

Wireless Solutions, Inc., Telit Communications PLC, CalAmp Corp., Inc., 

No. 20-cv-____ (D. Del.) filed on ____, 2020. iii. As to the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Respondent Group, Koninklijke 

Philips N.V. v. Thales DIS AIS USA, Llc (F/K/A Gemalto IoT LLC F/K/A 

Cinterion Wireless Modules NAFTA LLC), Thales DIS AIS Deutschland 

Gmbh (F/K/A Gemalto M2M Gmbh), Thales USA, Inc., Thales S.A., 

CalAmp Corp., Inc., Xirgo Technologies, LLC, Laird Connectivity, Inc., 

No. 20-cv-____ (D. Del.) filed on ____, 2020. 

256. For completeness, Complainants indicate that there are also unrelated pending 

United States patent litigation not involving the Asserted Patents.  Philips and 

Quectel are involved in an unrelated U.S. District Court litigation involving 

different patents captioned as Koninklijke Philips N.V. v. Quectel Wireless 

Solutions Co., Ltd., No. 20-cv-____ (D. Del.) filed on ____, 2020.  Philips and 
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Telit are involved in an unrelated U.S. District Court litigation involving different 

patents captioned as Koninklijke Philips N.V. v. Telit Wireless Solutions, Inc., 

Telit Communications PLC, No. 20-cv-____ (D. Del.) filed on ____, 2020.  

Philips and Thales are involved in an unrelated U.S. District Court litigation 

involving different patents captioned as Koninklijke Philips N.V. v. Thales DIS 

AIS USA, LLC (F/K/A Gemalto IoT LLC F/K/A Cinterion Wireless Modules 

NAFTA LLC), Thales DIS AIS Deutschland Gmbh (F/K/A Gemalto M2M Gmbh), 

Thales USA, Inc., Thales S.A., No. 20-cv-____ (D. Del.) filed on ____, 2020. 

257. For further completeness, Complainants also indicate that there are or have been 

certain litigations in foreign countries involving foreign counterparts to the 

Asserted Patents.  These are set forth in Exhibit 32. 

XII. REQUEST FOR GENERAL EXCLUSION ORDER 

258. Complainants seek a general exclusion order as part of its relief. 

259. A general exclusion order is warranted when such exclusion is necessary to 

prevent circumvention of an exclusion order limited to products and named 

persons or where there is a pattern of violation of Section 337 and it is difficult to 

identify the source of the infringing products. A general exclusion order is 

warranted here both to prevent circumvention of any exclusion order limited to 

products of named entities, and because there is a pattern of violation of Section 

337 and it is difficult to identify the source of infringing products. 

260. As set forth above, the unauthorized use of patented inventions is 

pervasive.  Complainants have ascertained that the Quectel Accused Products are 

being manufactured, imported, sold for importation, and/or sold after importation 

by the Quectel Respondent Group including at least Quectel and its customers 
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CalAmp, Xirgo, and Laird.  Complainants have ascertained that the Telit Accused 

Products are being manufactured, imported, sold for importation, and/or sold after 

importation by the Telit Respondent Group including at least Telit and its 

customer CalAmp.  And, Complainants have ascertained that the Thales 

(Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused Products are being manufactured, imported, sold for 

importation, and/or sold after importation by the Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Respondent Group including at least Thales and its customers CalAmp, Xirgo, 

and Laird. 

261. Complainants are informed and believe that additional infringements and sales to 

other customers by the Quectel, Telit and Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) 

Respondents Groups will be ascertained through discovery which will occur in 

this investigation.  Even so, there are numerous infringing products entering the 

United States, and it is virtually impossible to identify the sources of those 

infringing products, as the Quectel, Telit and Thales (Gemalto/Cinterion) Accused 

Products are modules that are incorporated into finished products abroad, and 

those finished products are subsequently imported without identification of their 

component parts.  While Complainants have identified herein multiple 

manufacturers and distributors of numerous infringing products, discovery will 

likely show additional, unrelated manufacturers in foreign countries, and 

unrelated distributors that also import the infringing products within other 

finished goods.  

262. In addition, manufacturers (and distributors) of the Accused Products appear to 

employ complex business arrangements, do business under more than one name 
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and/or form intricate arrays of confusingly similar affiliates, which will make it 

difficult, if not impossible, for Customs to determine the source of the infringing 

products.  Given the difficulty in identifying the source of the infringing products 

and the ease of distribution of infringing products, such distributors may easily 

evade an exclusion order limited to named Respondents. Accordingly, given the 

apparently numerous sources abroad of infringing products, the difficulty in 

identifying the manufacturing source of such infringing products, and the ease of 

distribution of imported infringing products, a general exclusion order is 

necessary to protect Complainants and their substantial domestic industry. 

XIII. REQUESTED RELIEF 

263. WHEREFORE, by reason of the foregoing, Complainants request that the United 

States International Trade Commission:  

(a) institute an immediate investigation, pursuant to Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 

1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337, with respect to the proposed Respondents’ violations of 

Section 337 based on the unlawful importation into the United States, sale for importation into 

the United States, sale within the United States after importation, and/or use within the United 

States after importation of products that infringe the claims of United States Patent Nos. 

7,831,271, 8,199,711, 7,554,943, and/or 7,944,935 as well as the unlawful importation into the 

United States, sale for importation into the United States, sale within the United States after 

importation, and/or use within the United States after importation of products containing the 

same;  

(b) schedule and conduct a hearing on the unlawful acts and, following the hearing, 

determine whether there has been a violation of Section 337;  



 

107 
 

 

(c) issue a permanent general and limited exclusion order, pursuant to Section 337(d) 

of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, excluding from entry into the United States all of 

proposed respondents’ cellular communication modules and products containing the same that 

infringe the claims of United States Patent Nos. 7,831,271, 8,199,711, 7,554,943, and/or 

7,944,935;  

(d) issue a permanent cease and desist order, pursuant to Section 337(f) of the Tariff 

Act of 1930, as amended, prohibiting proposed respondents and related companies from at least 

importing, marketing, advertising, demonstrating, warehousing inventory for distribution, 

offering for sale, selling, qualifying for use in the products of others, distributing, or using 

proposed respondents’ cellular communication modules and products containing the same that 

infringe the claims of United States Patent Nos. 7,831,271, 8,199,711, 7,554,943, and/or 

7,944,935; 

(e) impose a bond during the 60-day Presidential review period pursuant to 19 U.S.C. 

§ 1337(f)(1) and (j)(1) to prevent further injury to Philips’ domestic industry relating to each of 

the Asserted Patents; and 

(f) grant such other and further relief as the Commission deems just and proper based 

on the facts determined by the investigation and the authority of the Commission.   

 
Dated:  December 17, 2020  

 
  

        
 Eley O. Thompson 

Richard Spencer Montei 
FOLEY & LARDNER LLP 
321 N. Clark Street 
Suite 2800 
Chicago, IL 60654-5313 
Phone: (312) 832-4359 
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David A. Hickerson 
FOLEY & LARDNER LLP 
3000 K Street, N.W. 
Suite 600 
Washington, D.C. 20007-5109 
Phone:  (202) 672-5467 
 
Kevin M. Littman 
Lucas I. Silva  
FOLEY & LARDNER LLP 
111 Huntington Avenue 
Suite 2500 
Boston, MA 02199-7610 
Phone: (617) 342-4000 

  
Counsel for Complainants 
Koninklijke Philips N.V. and Philips RS North 
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VERIFICATION 

 I, Kiran K. Patel, declare in accordance with 19 C.F.R. §§ 210.4 and 210.12(a), under 

penalty of perjury, that the following statements are true:   

1. I am an Intellectual Property Counsel for Philips North America, LLC, and I am 

duly authorized to verify this Complaint of Koninklijke Philips N.V. under Section 337 of the 

Tariff Act of 1930, as Amended (“Complaint”);  

2. I have read the Complaint and am aware of its contents;  

3. To the best of my knowledge, information, and belief, formed after an inquiry 

reasonable under the circumstances, (a) the claims and other legal contentions in the Complaint 

are warranted by existing law or by a non-frivolous argument for the extension, modification, or 

reversal of existing law or the establishment of new law, and (b) the allegations and other factual 

contentions in the Complaint have evidentiary support or, if specifically so identified, are likely 

to have evidentiary support after a reasonable opportunity for further investigation or discovery; 

and 

4. The Complaint is not being presented for any improper purpose, such as to harass 

or to cause unnecessary delay or needles increase in the cost of the investigation or related 

proceeding.  

 I declare under penalty of perjury under the law of the United States that the foregoing is 

true and correct.  Executed on December 17, 2020.   

 
         

/Kiran K. Patel/    
 Kiran K. Patel 


